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WE ARE ADDING POINTS OF CONTACT TO BETTER SERVE YOU

A

This annual report celebrates the life and contribution
to the TECU Credit Union Family and Membership
of Former President, Vice President and Director,
Credit Union Movement Stalwart and Visionary
and a Good Friend and Colleague

Ronald F. Jones
1943–2019
R.I.P.
We will never forget you.

NATIONAL ANTHEM OF TRINIDAD & TOBAGO
Forged from the love of liberty
In the fires of hope and prayer,
With boundless faith in our destiny
We solemnly declare:
Side by side we stand,
Islands of the blue Caribbean Sea.
This our native land,
We pledge our lives to thee.
Here every creed and race
Find an equal place,
And may God bless our Nation.
Here every creed and race
Find an equal place,
And may God bless our Nation.
(Pat Castagne)

CREDIT UNION PRAYER
Lord, make me an instrument of thy Peace.
Where there is hatred, Let me sow Love.
Where there is injury, Pardon;
Where there is doubt, Faith;
Where there is despair, Hope;
Where there is darkness, Light;
And where there is sadness, Joy.
O Divine Master,
Grant that I may not so much seek
To be consoled as to console;
To be understood as to understand;
To be loved as to love;
For it is in giving that we receive;
It is in pardoning that we are pardoned;
And it is in dying
That we are born to eternal life.
(St. Francis of Assisi)
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YOUR
HOME
Y O U R

D R E A M S
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...Make it a reality with a

Mortgage Loan
Land/Property purchase
Mortgage Refinancing

Home Construction
Home Repairs

Equity Financing

Apply Today and Enjoy
Competitive Rates | No Processing Fees | No Closing Costs
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(NO 73/2020)
Notice is hereby given that the 73rd Annual General Meeting of TECU CREDIT UNION COOPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED will be held virtually via Zoom on December 21st 2020 at
4.30 p.m.
Registration commences at 2.30 p.m.
•

Receive the reports of the Board of Directors, Supervisory, Credit, Education and
Nominating Committees and the Financial Statements of the Credit Union for the year
ended 31 December, 2019.

•

Recommend the dividend to be paid to members for the year ended 31 December, 2019.

•

Elect Officers.

•

Appoint Auditors.

•

Resolutions.

•

Transact other ordinary business of the Credit Union.
Lucy Ottley
Honorary Secretary

AGENDA
1. Call to order

6. Adoption of financial statements

2. Reading of notice convening meeting

7. Election of Officers:

3. Confirmation of minutes and matters arising
therefrom – Annual General Meeting No.
72/2019
4. Motion that the financial statements and all
reports as presented be taken as read
5. Adoption of reports:
(a) Board of Directors
(b) Supervisory Committee
(c) Credit Committee

(a) Supervisory Committee – 5
(b) Credit Committee – 5
(c) Board of Directors – 4
8. Movement of Resolutions
9. Reading of Correspondence
10. Discussion of general business
11. Destroying of the ballots
12. Vote of thanks

(d) Education Committee
(e) Nominating Committee

WHEREVER YOU ARE, YOU CAN CONNECT WITH US
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STANDING ORDERS

1.

No member shall address the meeting except through the Chairman.

2.

The microphones of all participating members shall be kept muted except where permitted by the
Chairman.

3.

Members will type their questions into the chat box. The AGM Moderator will collate and transmit
questions to the Chairman.

4.

A member shall address the meeting ONLY when called upon and unmuted by the Chairman to do
so, after which, he/she shall immediately be muted. The member shall identify himself/herself prior
to proceeding.

5.

Speeches are to be clear and relevant to the subject before the meeting.

6.

A member shall use the Raise Hand button ONLY when:

7.

a)

He/she is a mover or seconder of a motion

b)

He/she is raising a point of order

c)

He/she requires to object or to explain

d)

He/she requires the urgent attention of the Chairman

A member may not speak twice on the same subject except:
a)

The mover of a motion who has the right of reply

b)

He/she raises hand to object or to explain (with the permission of the Chairman).

8.

The mover of a “Procedural Motion” (Adjournment, lay on the table, Motion to Postpone) shall have
no right of reply.

9.

No speeches are to be made after the “Question” has been put and carried or negated.

10.

A member raising hand on a “Point of Order” is to state the point clearly and concisely. (A “Point of
Order” must have relevance to the Standing Orders).
a)

A member shall not “Call another member to order” but may draw the attention of the Chairman
to a “Breach of Order”.

b)

In no event can a member call the Chairman to order.

11.

Only one amendment should be before the meeting at one and the same time.

12.

When a motion is withdrawn, any amendment to it fails.

13.

The Chairman shall have the right to a “casting vote”.

14.

If there is equality of voting on an amendment, and if the Chairman does not exercise his casting
vote, the amendment is lost.

15.

Provision is to be made for protection by the Chairman from vilification (personal abuse).

16.

No member shall impute improper motives against another member

17.

No form of recording of the proceedings shall be allowed without the permission of the Chairman.

WHEREVER YOU ARE, YOU CAN CONNECT WITH US
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MINUTES OF THE
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 2019
the 72nd Annual General Meeting held on Friday, May 3, 2019
at the PETROTRIN, Pointe-a-Pierre Club

1.

Call to Order

6.

The Chairman, Mr. Kenneth Allum, called
the Meeting to order at 4:30 p.m. and
advised that five hundred and twenty-two
(522) members had been registered at the
time of convening the Meeting; as such,
there was a quorum.
The National Anthem was played.

2.

Invocation
The Credit Union Prayer was recited by the
members present.

3.

Minute of Silence
One (1) minute silence was observed for
all members who had died during the past
year.

4.

Safety Briefing
Mr. Keron Drakes, Facilities Coordinator at
TECU, delivered the safety briefing.

5.

Notice Convening Meeting
The Chairman invited the Honorary
Secretary, Mrs. Lucy Ottley, to read the
Notice of the Annual General Meeting.

President’s Address
The President, Mr. Kenneth Allum, welcomed
all members present to the 72nd Annual
General Meeting on behalf of the Board of
Directors.
Mr. Allum highlighted that from humble
beginnings, TECU had grown to a
membership in excess of 44,000 over
the past 72 years. The Credit Union had
undergone several changes throughout
the years and had endured changes in
the Credit Union movement, the financial
sector, legislation, regulation and external
changes due to foreign affairs. These
changes influenced and affected the way
TECU did business. Change is never easy, as
it forces us to reassess our perspective and
attitude—which was required in 2018.
In preparing for the future, the Board of
Directors and Management rolled out the
2019-2022 Strategic Plan, which focused
on propelling the Credit Union to realising
its vision of being the leading Credit Union
in the Caribbean. The Board of Directors
and Management continue to monitor the
impending Credit Union legislation and the
Legislative Committee continues to work
tirelessly to ensure that TECU remains
abreast of these imminent changes and
that TECU’s contributions are given during
the development of the legislation.
The President personally thanked all
members and assured them that their
loyalty and trust did not go unnoticed,
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as there would be no TECU without our
members. Mr. Allum gave the Board of
Directors’ commitment to continue to
develop innovative products and services
that served the needs of members and their
families while providing excellent returns on
investment. The President advised that as
TECU prepared to manoeuvre another year
of change, the Credit Union was prepared
and ready to serve the membership with
the assistance of the Board of Directors,
Officers, Management, staff, and other
volunteers. He thanked the membership for
trusting TECU to create and secure their
families’ future.

7.

9.

Standing Orders
The Honorary Secretary, Mrs. Lucy Ottley,
read the fourteen (14) standing orders.

8.

Page 46, 2nd to last paragraph, last line Insert “by the Nominating Committee.” at
the end of the sentence.

Errors and Omissions
The President advised of the following
errors in the Annual Report:
Page 14, Item 21.3 - Sentence to read “The
Nominees for the Credit Committee were
Norman Arjoon, Michelle Badal, Mervyn
Kirk Baptiste, Inga Crichlow, Wesley Huggins
and Gerald Skeete.”
Page 25, Paragraph 1, Line 7 - Sentence to
read “The membership increased by 5% as
at December …”
Page 43, photograph, 3rd row - Member’s
name should be Tracy Ramsden-Boyce
Page 44, paragraph 1, last sentence “sessions and workshops”
Page 45, paragraph 1, last sentence
- Sentence to read “The primary
responsibility of the Nominating Committee
is to create a slate with suitable Nominees
for election at the Annual General Meeting
(AGM), expected to be held on Friday May 3,
2019 at 4:30 p.m.

Adoption of Minutes of the 70th
Annual General Meeting
The Minutes of the 71st Annual General
Meeting held on April 20, 2018 were taken
as read.
On a Motion moved by Mrs. Sheriba AliRajack and seconded by Mr. Shaffayate
Ali the Minutes were adopted. All were in
favour of the Motion.

10. Matters Arising
10.1 Mrs. Cheryl Richards-Scott advised
that it was chaotic getting to the
venue as there were only three (3)
shuttles. Members had been advised
that parking would be provided at
the Administration building carpark,
and upon arrival at the location,
they were being redirected to the
refinery carpark. The shuttles also
left members who were awaiting
transportation. Mrs. Richards-Scott
highlighted that another venue
should have been considered. The
President extended apologies for the
inconvenience.
10.2 Mr. Anthony Soochit indicated that
arrangements should be made to

WHEREVER YOU ARE, YOU CAN CONNECT WITH US
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should be informed of the details. Mr.
Pariag highlighted that his request
was ignored and he requested the
“head table” take note of his request
for publication of the list of delinquent
members.

have the Annual Report delivered to
members who are unable to visit the
Credit Union’s offices to obtain a copy.
10.3 Mr. Steve Chadee enquired on page
10, item 15.2 and 15.6; namely the
“new mechanisms employed” relative
to recovery and “the measures
introduced to avoid a repeat” of
requested information being supplied
late. In response, the General Manager
advised that the vacancies in the
Credit & Risk Department have been
filled. The Head, Credit & Risk has
changed the reporting procedures in
line with IFRS9 reporting.
With respect to the Supervisory
Committee, all e-mail requests
received are logged and tracked by the
General Manager and his Executive
Assistant. A register was created, so
that when documents are provided,
they are logged and a member of
the Committee signs acknowledging
receipt.
10.4 Mr. Bachan Pariag indicated that
when he requested publication of the
names of the delinquent members at
the last AGM, he was invited to visit
the General Manager’s office to view
the list of delinquent members. Mr.
Pariag advised that he did not accept
the offer as it was not fair to the
membership. If bad debts of $5M were
being written off, the membership
10
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10.5 Mr. Anthony Soochit highlighted that
the response to Mr. Andrew Fifi’s
enquiry on page 16, item 25.4 is still
outstanding. He requested an update
on the status of discussions with
the Commissioner for Co-operative
Development (CCD). In response,
the Honorary Treasurer, Mrs. Sandra
Matthews-Noel, advised that a
meeting was held with the CCD in
July, 2018 relative to revision of the
Co-operative Societies Act (the Act) to
benefit the Credit Union Movement to
enable Joint Partners to access funds
upon the death of the account holder.
All the relevant data on members
who left the Credit Union because
of the legislation and the impact on
business was provided to the CCD. No
response had been received to date.
The Honorary Treasurer assured Mr.
Soochit that TECU will continue to
push for a resolution to the issue.
10.6 Mr. Steve Chadee referenced page
12, item 19.10 “When the air and sea
bridge issues are resolved, revenue
from the facility will be increased.”
He highlighted that there are two
(2) new vessels on the inter-island
route and enquired whether TECU
was pursuing marketing strategies
to increase occupancy at TECU Coral
Reef Resort. In response, the General
Manager indicated that although the
vessels had been added, there was
still a lack of service to passengers.
An aggressive social media campaign
was ongoing; discounts had been
introduced for the membership;
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partnerships with various groups
and other organisations were being
targeted for special discounts e.g.
sporting groups. Occupancy at TECU
Coral Reef was almost 100% for the
Sea to Sea marathon, which was to be
held during the period May 17 to 19,
2019.
10.7 Mr. Bachan Pariag recommended
that the Minister of Finance should
be specifically engaged regarding
resolving the issue of Joint Holdings.

11.

Motion to Adopt Reports
A Motion that all Reports be taken as
read was moved by Mr. Gregory Cova and
seconded by Mr. Bachan Pariag. All were in
favour of the Motion.

12. Board of Directors’ Report
12.1 Mr. Godfrey Ransome enquired
whether the 2019–2023 Strategic
Plan was available on the Credit
Union’s website for access by the
membership. The Chairman advised
that the Strategic Plan was to be
rolled out to employees and then to
stakeholders; it would be accessible
thereafter to the membership. Mr.
Ransome enquired on a projected
timeframe. The Chairman indicated
that the Strategic Plan should be
rolled out to staff by the end of Q2–
2019.
Mr. Ransome indicated that the
figure for Members’ Shares in
2018 represented in the table on
page 28 should be $1,617.7M as
reflected in the graph on page 30.
Mr. Ransome highlighted that year
after year, he continued to request
the Budget summary, and it was
not being prepared. The General

Manager advised that the Budget
was distributed as an insert upon
registration. Mr. Ransome indicated
that he did not receive the insert and
enquired why it was not included in
the Annual Report. The Chairman
assured that it would be reviewed and
attempts would be made to include it
in the 2019 Annual Report.
12.2 Mr. Steve Chadee enquired about
the expenses detailed on page 30,
namely the strategies engaged to
mitigate increase in costs. He also
enquired about the upgrade of the
core operating system and building
improvement works. In response, the
General Manager advised that some
strategies were direct marketing
and more community development
plans were being selected. As it
related to building works, most of the
Credit Union’s buildings have been in
existence for some time and required
repairs. As such, there were projects
which were ongoing and would
continue over the years.
Mr. Chadee highlighted that the onepage Budget summary reflected
increases in a lot of areas, therefore
the strategies might not be working,
or they might require review. The
General Manager advised that
when the original Budget had been
prepared, it reflected that a change in
strategy was required and there were
changes in the way activities were
conducted. Assistance still must be
rendered to the membership in some
areas. The increase in salaries was
reflective of the filling of vacancies. In
2019, a job evaluation exercise would
be conducted and some of the vacant
positions might not exist in the new
structure.

WHEREVER YOU ARE, YOU CAN CONNECT WITH US
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Mr. Chadee requested that the
General Manager elaborate on real
estate sales of $14M. In response,
the General Manager advised that
the Credit Union has eighty-four (84)
Lots for sale in Phase 1 of the Soogrim
Trace development. Phase 2 would
be completed this year. The $14M
represented the net of sales.
Mr. Chadee enquired on the measures
taken to address delinquency relative
to the impact of the closure of
Petrotrin as well as the number of
members and value of delinquency
attributable to Petrotrin. The General
Manager advised that the Credit
Union was escalating its visibility and
introduced new debt consolidation
products to assist members who had
been retrenched. Contact had been
made with Petrotrin members, some
of whom visited the office to engage
in discussion relative to their affairs.
They were being dealt with on a case
by case basis. Petrotrin employees
accounted for eight percent (8%)
of the membership, 23% of the loan
portfolio and 20% of delinquency.
12.3 A Motion to adopt the Board of
Directors’ Report was moved by Mrs.
Cheryl Richards-Scott and seconded
by Ms. Tracy Walcott. All were in
favour of the Motion.

13. Supervisory Committee Report
13.1 Mr. Kevin Singh enquired on the
measures in place to mitigate the
risk in assessing loan applications.
The General Manager advised that
an in-depth credit scoring system had
been introduced and Loan Officers
underwent monthly training in
conducting assessments.
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13.1 Ms. Alisha Hudlin-Pierre highlighted
the issue of the Supervisory
Committee not receiving information
from the General Manager and
enquired on what had been done to
rectify the situation. The General
Manager indicated that documents
which were outside of the remit of the
General Manager’s office might take a
little longer to provide, but all efforts
were made to expedite delivery. The
Supervisory Committee also signed
acknowledging receipt of requested
items on the log maintained by the
General Manager’ Office.
13.2 Mr. Andrew Fifi referred to page 39 –
Customer Service. He advised that he
had had an issue and visited almost
every Department in the Credit Union
in an attempt to have it addressed
and resolved with no success. He
indicated that he eventually moved
most of his money since he felt as
though he was wasting his time and
nobody was addressing his issue.
Mr. Fifi advised that funds he was
depositing to his account were going
to another member’s account and he
was being charged penalties for late
payment. He went to the Supervisory
Committee where his concerns were
presented and addressed and the
funds were returned to his account.
Mr. Fifi commended the Supervisory
Committee for their action. He
highlighted that he had never been
contacted by any member of the
Board of Directors to apologise
for the error. He expressed that he
believed he should have received
a letter of apology. Mr. Fifi advised
that other members are experiencing
similar inconveniences and systems
needed to be reviewed. The Chairman
reminded Mr. Fifi that the Supervisory
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Committee was a part of the Credit
Union and if they resolved his issue,
it was done on behalf of the Credit
Union.
13.3 Mr. Anthony Soochit indicated that
it was sad to hear that longstanding
members were leaving the Credit
Union. He advised that members’
concerns should be heard so they did
not leave in disgust like Mr. Andrew
Fifi.
13.4 Mrs. Cheryl Richards-Scott highlighted
that the Supervisory Committee
Report commended the Compliance
Unit as the best functioning in the
Credit Union. She requested that the
Board of Directors and Management
ensured that for 2019, the Supervisory
Committee submit a balanced Report
as this was becoming somewhat
annoying to the membership. The
President advised that there was room
for improvement and the Board of
Directors was doing its best together
with the Committee, which played an
important role in the Credit Union.
13.5 Mrs. Judith Douglas-Davis advised
that she and her husband had an
incident and that she was still baffled
by the situation. She indicated that
she was unaware of whether the
General Manager had knowledge of
the incident as she never received
a letter of apology nor any type of
communication. Mrs. Douglas-Davis
advised members to check on their
accounts as her husband advised
her that the sum of twenty thousand
dollars ($20,000.00) was missing
from his account. She indicated that
she visited the Credit Union and was
directed to a Supervisor who asked her
if she was sure that the funds had not
been withdrawn. Mrs. Douglas-Davis
indicated that she was then presented

with documents bearing a signature,
which was not her husband’s. She
said she does not understand what
took place. If funds were being paid
out, proper identification should be
requested. The funds were eventually
returned to the account. Mrs. DouglasDavis urged members to review their
statements.
13.6 Mr. Orville Wolsey advised that in
2001, he had been elected to the
Supervisory Committee and had
demitted office in 2010, during
which time several reports had been
submitted. He indicated that he
recently visited the Point Fortin office,
where issues which had been raised
in some of those reports were still
occurring, although twelve (12) years
had elapsed, evidencing that nothing
had been done. He enquired what was
happening in the Credit Union.
Mr. Wolsey highlighted that a decision
had been taken to purchase a building
in Clifton Hill for relocation of the
Point Fortin office. He opined that
Clifton Hill was no place for a business.
He advised that the building was not
suitable for an office.
13.7 Ms. Carol Melville indicated that
statements for December 2018 had
been received in May 2019. Members
could not check their statements for

WHEREVER YOU ARE, YOU CAN CONNECT WITH US
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16. Nominating Committee Report
A Motion for the adoption of the Nominating
Committee Report was moved by Ms.
Colleen Walcott and seconded by Mr. Kelvin
Alphonso. All were in favour of the Motion.

17.

Specially Invited Guests
17.1 The Chairman acknowledged the
presence of specially Invited guests:

accuracy when the Credit Union was
delinquent. She enquired how it was
going to be addressed. Ms. Melville
advised that she was receiving other
members’ statements attached to
hers for over one (1) year and it
was only discontinued when it was
brought to the attention of the
Honorary Secretary. She indicated
that management must be careful.
13.8 A Motion for the adoption of the
Supervisory Committee Report was
moved by Ms. Cheryl Richards-Scott
and seconded by Mr. Norman Arjoon.
All were in favour of the Motion.

14. Credit Committee Report

•

Ministry of Labour, Small & Micro
Enterprise Development, Co-operative
Division - Ms. Sabrina Badree, Ms.
Aazida Mohammed, Mrs. Elizabeth
Spence-Abdul Haqq, Ms. Marsha
Santlal-Phagoo, Ms. Maria Pierre and
Ms. Deborah-Ann Scott.

•

CUNA Caribbean Insurance Limited Mr. Andre Goindoo, Managing Director

•

Girwar & Deonarine, Attorneys-atLaw - Mr. Michael Kalliecharan and Ms.
Varlene Mewelal

•

Teachers Credit Union - Ms. Ann Marie
and Mr. Anthony Lashley

•

Police Credit Union - Mr. Vernly Gift

•

CLICO Credit Union - Mr. Jemmot
Manmohan and Ms. Heather Riley

17.2 The President recognised Mr. Cecil
Lewis, who would be celebrating his
one hundredth (100th) birthday in
July 2019.

A Motion for the adoption of the Credit
Committee Report was moved by Ms. Jennie
Alleyne and seconded by Ms. Jacqueline
Newton. All were in favour of the Motion.

18. Audited Financial Statements
15. Education Committee Report
A Motion for the adoption of the Education
Committee Report was moved by Mrs.
Nadine Pirtheesingh and seconded by Mr.
Hercial Vitalis. All were in favour of the
Motion.
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18.1 The Independent Auditor’s Report
was presented by Ms. Dana Joseph of
Grant Thornton, ORBIT Solutions.
18.2 Mr. Steve Chadee referred to page
77 and enquired on the depreciation
rates. He also indicated that he did
not see the sum which was being
written off reflected in the financial
statements and enquired where the
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sum was represented. Mr. Chadee
requested that the membership be
advised of the bad debt, specifically
the number of members whose
debts were being written off and the
purpose of the loans. The General
Manager advised that for 2018, the
maximum rate of depreciation was
used for prudence and items were
written off after different tenures
of use. Mr. Chadee was directed to
Note 8 on page 92 and advised that
due to the introduction of IFRS9, the
provision for 2017 was restated. The
sum of $8,473,386 represented loans
written off, of which nineteen (19)
included write-off of the principal; the
balance was the difference of interest.
The General Manager indicated that
the sum of $1,967,354 represented the
principal on one loan granted in 2009.
International collection agencies have
been engaged to attempt to recover
on the loan. Mr. Chadee enquired on
the security held against the loan and
the General Manager advised that the
three (3) properties had been sold
but did not realise the full value of the
sum outstanding.
18.3 Mr. Godfrey Ransome referenced
page 92 – Provision for Loan Losses
adjustment for the adoption of IFRS9
in the sum of $19M and enquired
whether this provision had been for
one (1) year. The General Manager
advised that the figure represented
provision for the entire loan portfolio
for 2017. Mr. Ransome enquired on
the explanation for the adjustment.
In response the General Manager
indicated that IFRS9 factors expected
credit loss. Mr. Ransome highlighted
that the initial adjustment was
exorbitant.

Mr. Ransome referred to page 92 –
Loans written off total $10,063,413,
however, the bad debt written off in
2017 was $5.2M. The General Manager
indicated that the sum came from the
provision. Mr. Ransome also referred
to page 61 – Statement of Changes
in Equity and advised that the Group
Life Reserve was missing from the
bottom of page 60. The General
Manager advised that CLICO funds
were realised, when it was impaired
in 2010, funds were taken from the
Capital Reserves. CLICO funds passed
through the Income Statement to
Retained Earnings. The principal was
transferred to Retained Earnings
and the balance was payable to the
membership.
18.4 Mrs. Cheryl Richards-Scott referenced
page 92 – Long-term Investments
and indicated that all Bonds were
detailed previously. Mrs. RichardsScott advised that she would like to
see a return to this practice.
18.5 Mr. Capildeo Beharry queried the
data processing increase. The General
Manager advised that from 2016 to
2018, the Credit Union upgraded the
Flexcube Oracle System, which was at
a significant cost, and all expenditure
was transferred from capital work in
progress and depreciation had to be
paid in 2018, which represented $6M
of the $9M, and $1M was attributable
to Service Agreements.
18.6 Mr. Everard Shand made reference to
page 92 – Long-term Investments and
enquired when the Petrotrin bonds
are maturing and what position the
Credit Union had adopted relative
to the Government’s proposal. The
General Manager advised that the
Bonds were maturing in August 2019

WHEREVER YOU ARE, YOU CAN CONNECT WITH US
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18.10 The Audited Financial Statements for
the year ended December 31, 2018
were adopted on a Motion moved by
Mr. Gregory Cova and seconded by
Mrs. Cheryl Richards-Scott. All were
in favour.

19. Election of Officers

and a decision had been taken to
allow them to mature.
18.7 Ms. Carol Melville enquired on the
plans for the beach houses with
special reference to Mayaro. She
indicated that the increase in losses
appeared to be a trend. The General
Manager advised that the initial plan
for Mayaro entailed minor renovation
works to building 1 and demolition
of buildings 2, 3 and 4. The Town
& Country Division had granted
outline approval for developmental
plans. The Property Development
Committee in its deliberations had
proposed designs, and costings were
available for consideration. The plans
were projected for implementation in
2020.
18.8 Mr. Kevin Singh referenced page 92 –
Loans to members at amortised cost.
He questioned the quantum and the
General Manager advised that more
than fifty percent (50%) of the loans
were over seven (7) years old.
18.9 Mr. Capildeo Beharry enquired how
seven (7) year loans increased the
calculation. The General Manager
advised that a debt was only
statute barred if there had been no
communication between the Credit
Union and the member. There had
been active follow-up for some of the
loans with the members.
16
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19.1 The Chairman advised that there
were three hundred and eighty (380)
members present. The membership
was advised that representatives
from the Co-operative Division would
be presiding over the election of
Officers.
Ms. Deborah-Ann Scott advised that
the Nominating Committee Report
had been accepted and the nominees
had also been accepted by the
membership. Members were advised
that ROSE IT Services Limited would
be facilitating the voting process and
guidelines had been provided on the
process for voting.
19.2 The floor was open for nominations
for the Supervisory Committee.
Mrs. Inga Crichlow nominated Ms.
Alisha Ramdeen, Jacqueline Newton,
Stephen
Ramsden,
Remington
Redhead and Barry Hubah; the
nomination was seconded by Mr.
Wesley Huggins.
The Honorary Secretary read a letter
from Mr. Barry Hubah indicating that
he would be unable to attend the AGM
but was interested in serving on the
Supervisory Committee.
Ms. Angela Roberts nominated Mrs.
Nadine Pirtheesingh; the nomination
was seconded by Ms. Jennie Alleyne.
Mr. Vishnu Pariag nominated Mr.
Steve Chadee; the nomination was
seconded by Mr. André Hosein.
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A Motion to cease nominations was
moved by Ms. Donna Gloudon and
seconded by Mrs. Sheriba Ali-Rajack.
All were in favour of the Motion.
The Nominees for the Supervisory
Committee were Dianne Lochan,
Bernadette Roberts, Alisha Ramdeen,
Jacqueline
Newton,
Stephen
Ramsden, Remington Redhead, Barry
Hubah, Nadine Pirtheesingh and
Steve Chadee.
The Nominees were invited to
introduce
themselves
to
the
membership.
19.3 The floor was open for nominations
to the Credit Committee. Ms. Inga
Crichlow nominated Ms. Joanne
George-Lynch; the nomination was
seconded by Mr. Carl McLean.
Ms. Avis Benjamin nominated Ms.
Esther Cruickshank; the nomination
was seconded by Ms. Camille Cova.
Ms. Camille Cova nominated Ms.
Sherry Lewis; the nomination was
seconded by Ms. Sherene Khan. Ms.
Sherry Lewis declined the nomination.
A Motion to cease nominations was
moved by Mr. Stephen Ramsden and
seconded by Mr. Gregory Cova. All
were in favour of the Motion.
The Nominees for the Credit
Committee were Norman Arjoon,
Michelle Badal, Mervyn Kirk Baptiste,
Garth Anthony Baptiste, Wesley
Huggins, Joanne George-Lynch and
Esther Cruickshank.
The Nominees were invited to
introduce
themselves
to
the
membership.
19.4 The floor was open for nominations
for the Board of Directors. Mr. Ricardo
Albert nominated Mr. Jason Matthews;
the nomination was seconded by Mr.
Ian-Michael Haynes.

Mr. Brent Marcano nominated Mr.
Bachan Pariag; the nomination was
seconded by Mr. Stephen Brathwaite.
Mr. Mitra C. C. Attai nominated Mr.
Kevin Singh; the nomination was
seconded by Mrs. Cheryl RichardsScott.
A Motion to cease nominations was
moved by Ms. Keisha Francis and
seconded by Mrs. Nadine Pirtheesingh.
The Nominees for the Board of
Directors were Joyann Ali-Jahoor,
Inga Crichlow, Kenneth Lennox Lewis,
Ilitty Mollino, Anthony Solomon,
Hercial Vitalis, Brent Zephyrine,
Jason Matthews, Bachan Pariag and
Kevin Singh.
The Nominees were invited to
introduce
themselves
to
the
membership.
The Chairman resumed the meeting
and the ballots were taken for
processing.

20. Resolutions
20.1 Dividends
WHEREAS TECU Credit Union Cooperative Society Limited (TECU) has
realised a net surplus for the financial
year ended December 31, 2018
and whereas Bye-Law 46 of TECU
makes provision for the distribution
of this surplus in accordance with
the regulations of the Co-operative
Societies Act.
BE IT RESOLVED THAT a dividend
of 3.15% be declared on members’
shares for the period January 01,
2018 to December 31, 2018.
A Motion to adopt the resolution that
a dividend of 3.15% be paid for the
period January 01, 2018 to December
31, 2018 was moved by Mrs. Sandra
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Matthews-Noel, Honorary Treasurer
and seconded by Mr. Cecil Lewis. All
were in favour of the Motion.
20.2 Appointment of Auditors
WHEREAS Bye-Law 54 of TECU Credit
Union Co-operative Society Limited
(TECU) requires the Annual General
Meeting to appoint an Auditor for the
ensuing term.
BE IT RESOLVED THAT KPMG be
appointed Auditors of TECU for the
financial year January 01, 2019 to
December 31, 2019.
The resolution for appointment of
KPMG as Auditors for the financial
year ended December 31, 2019 was
adopted.
20.3 Bad Debts

although the debt is written off,
recovery was still pursued. Mr. Beharry
advised that “write-off” may not be
the most appropriate terminology.
Mr. Beharry further highlighted that
the amount represented one (1)
debt for which three (3) properties
had been collateralised, leaving this
quantum as doubtful, which was
alarming. He indicated that he had
heard of situations where members
had applied for loans and property
valuations were elevated, and he
hoped TECU had not fallen victim
to this. Mr. Beharry cautioned that
valuators needed to be carefully
scrutinised.

21. Correspondence

WHEREAS Bye-Law 15 (viii) of TECU
Credit Union Co-operative Society
Limited (TECU) makes provision for
approval of Bad Debts at the Annual
General Meeting.
BE IT RESOLVED THAT the sum of
one million, nine hundred and sixtyseven thousand, three hundred and
fifty-four dollars ($1,967,354.00) be
written off by the Society.
A Motion to adopt the resolution
that the sum of one million, nine
hundred and sixty-seven thousand,
three hundred and fifty-four dollars
($1,967,354.00) be written off by
the Society was moved by Mr. Brian
Tangwell, General Manager, and
seconded by Mr. Gregory Cova. All
were in favour of the Motion.
Mr. Capildeo Beharry indicated
that the Bye-Laws dictated that a
provision be made for bad debt,
but the Resolution was for writeoff of the debt. He highlighted that
the membership was assured that

There was no correspondence.

22. Presentation of Awards
Member of the Year - Mr. Vaalmiki Dass was
named Member of the Year on the basis
that he had been a member for over thirty
(30) years and utilised all aspects of TECU’s
product offerings for the year 2018. The
General Manager presented the token to
Mr. Vaalmiki Dass.
Door Prizes
1st Prize - Seven hundred and fifty dollars
($750.00) shares and a hamper was won by
Mr. Christopher Bruno.
2nd Prize - Five hundred and fifty dollars
($550.00) shares and a hamper was won by
Mr. Steve Chadee.
3rd Prize - Three hundred and fifty dollars
($350.00) shares and a hamper was won by
Mrs. Judith Douglas-Davis.
Special Door Prize - A hamper donated by
CUNA Caribbean Insurance was won by Mr.
Stephen Samaroo.

WHEREVER YOU ARE, YOU CAN CONNECT WITH US

19

MINUTES OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)

23. General Business
Mr. Shaffayate Ali recommended Palms
Club and OWTU Paramount building as
alternative locations for hosting the AGM
as they had adequate parking and other
facilities. Mr. Ali advised that he has been a
member of the Credit Union for the past fifty
(50) years and would like the membership
to be increased to fifty thousand (50,000)
by year end. He suggested each member
recommend one (1) new member. Mr.
Shaffayate Ali extended Mother’s Day
greetings to all mothers.
Mr. Bachan Pariag advised that the CLICO
insurance benefit at forty thousand dollars
($40,000.00) was too low and he would like
to see it increased. Mr. Pariag indicated that
members could not be expending funds on
legal fees to access their joint partner’s
savings upon death and this needed to be
addressed. He advised that members had to
compete with staff to get to the tellers, and
a better process should be implemented to
alleviate this. Mr. Pariag highlighted that
the Wills & Estates seminar was always
oversubscribed, and the same persons
attended continuously. He recommended
introduction of strategies to ensure that all
interested members had an opportunity to
attend.

24. Results of Elections
The votes for the Supervisory Committee
were as follows:
Mr. Remington Redhead
Ms. Dianne Lochan
Mr. Stephen Ramsden
Ms. Bernadette Roberts
Mr. Steve Chadee
Ms. Jacqueline Newton
Ms. Alisha Ramdeen
Mrs. Nadine Pirtheesingh
Mr. Barry Hubah
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-

247
235
213
193
184
179
151
150
95
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The following members were elected to the
Supervisory Committee:
Mr. Remington Redhead
Ms. Dianne Lochan
Mr. Stephen Ramsden
Ms. Bernadette Roberts
Mr. Steve Chadee
Ms. Jacqueline Newton
(First Alternate)
Ms. Alisha Ramdeen
(Second Alternate)

- 247
- 235
- 213
- 193
- 184
- 179
-

151

The votes for the Credit Committee were as
follows:
Mr. Wesley Huggins
- 271
Mr. Garth Anthony Baptiste - 271
Ms. Michelle Badal
- 267
Mr. Mervyn Kirk Baptiste
- 252
Mr. Norman Arjoon
- 251
Ms. Esther Cruickshank
- 169
Mrs. Joanne George-Lynch - 143
The following members were elected to the
Credit Committee:
Mr. Wesley Huggins
- 271
Mr. Garth Anthony Baptiste - 271
Ms. Michelle Badal
- 267
Mr. Mervyn Kirk Baptiste
- 252
Mr. Norman Arjoon
- 251
Ms. Esther Cruickshank
- 169
(First Alternate)
Mrs. Joanne George-Lynch - 143
(Second Alternate)
The votes for the Board of
as follows:
Mr. Brent Zephyrine
Mrs. Inga Crichlow
Mrs. Joyann Ali-Jahoor
Mr. Anthony Solomon
Ms. Ilitty Mollino
Mr. Jason Matthews
Mr. Hercial Vitalis
Mr. Kenneth Lennox Lewis
Mr. Kevin Singh
Mr. Bachan Pariag

Directors were
- 246
- 196
- 183
- 150
- 138
- 129
- 126
- 79
- 49
- 36
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The following members were elected to the
Board of Directors:
Mr. Brent Zephyrine
- 246
Mrs. Inga Crichlow
- 196
Mrs. Joyann Ali-Jahoor
- 183
Mr. Anthony Solomon
- 150
Ms. Ilitty Mollino
- 138
(First Alternate)
Mr. Jason Matthews
- 129
(Second Alternate)
A Motion for destruction of the ballots and
deletion of the electronic ballots was moved
by Mr. Wesley Huggins and seconded by Mr.
Joseph. All were in favour of the Motion.
The Chairman thanked the Presiding
Officers and ROSE IT Services Limited for
their service.
Congratulations were extended to the
newly elected Officers for the 2019/2020
term.

25. Vote of Thanks
Mr. Ian-Michael Haynes offered the vote of
thanks on behalf of the Board of Directors.
He also thanked God for health and
strength. Mr. Haynes extended thanks to
the Officers of the Co-operative Division
for their efficient service in facilitating the
election. Thanks was extended to Paria Fuel
Trading Company Limited for use of the
venue as had been done for the past ten
(10) years. Mr. Haynes thanked all service
providers, loyal members, officers, staff and
anyone who contributed to the successful
execution of the AGM. He wished all a safe
journey to their homes.
The Chairman advised that an orientation
session will be held for new Officers on
Monday May 6, 2019 at 5:00 p.m. in the
John C. Gomes Auditorium.
The Annual General Meeting concluded at
8:36 p.m.
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Hon. Secretary
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Orville Andrews

Leonard Chan Chow
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Ilitty Mollino
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Jason Matthews
Second Alternate
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REPORT OF THE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS

Fellow Co-operators,
Your Board of Directors (“Board”) takes pleasure in submitting this report on its
stewardship for the fiscal period under review January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019. The
following members comprised the Board:
Kenneth Allum 		

President

Ian-Michael Haynes		

Vice President

Sandra Matthews-Noel

Honorary Treasurer

Lucy Ottley			

Honorary Secretary

Joyann Ali-Jahoor		

Member

Orville Andrews		

Member

Leonard Chan Chow		

Member

Inga Crichlow			

Member

André Hosein			

Member

Anthony Solomon		

Member

Stephen Tang			

Member

Brent Zephyrine 		

Member

The year 2019 closed a decade that arguably
could be bookmarked by a similar set of events
that defined a challenging time and portended a
world characterised by vagueness and doubt. In
2019, similar to 2010, the world is contending with
the issue of a global financial crisis that triggered
a period of swift change and new/complex
challenges – declining oil and gas prices leading
to an economic recession, digital disruption,
rising unemployment and crime, the closure of
mainstay corporate entities PETROTRIN in 2018
vs CL Financial in 2010 – and the perennial task
of diversifying from a commodity based economy
to having a more broad-based financial system.
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Despite all the economic and social turmoil,
however, TECU Credit Union, your Credit Union,
persevered and triumphed. The Credit Union
utilised the tools of finance to focus consistently
on doing the right things for our members and
their communities and, as a result, produced
strong business results. Even though 2019 was a
challenging year for institutions throughout the
financial sector, the Board and management are
proud of our achievements.
Total assets increased by 5.3% or $112.3 million
over the previous fiscal period of 2018, and now
stand at $2.2 billion. The membership’s shares
growth rate in 2019 kept pace with that of 2018,
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increasing by 5% year-on-year ($81 million). All
of this was achieved notwithstanding the ‘black
swan’ event that was the closure of refinery
operations at
PETROTRIN, affecting more
than 5,000 persons directly as well as business
activity in the south/south west peninsula.
That growth speaks to the strength of TECU’s
business model and diversification strategies,
and the continued confidence that our members
have in the Credit Union. 2019, however, was a
low-margin environment and a challenging year
for financial institutions, which inter alia make
money on the spread between the interest
collected on loans and the interest paid out on
deposits. As a result, (due in part to a marginal
increase in Interest Income on loans and a steep
increase in expenses for Loan Loss Provisions),
TECU’s Net Surplus in 2019 was lower than the
previous year at $39.4 million.
Despite the year-on-year decrease in the Net
Surplus, the Credit Union performed creditably
and demonstrated our stakeholders’ determined
resolve to achieve reasonable growth regardless
of the economic hardships.

innovations in 2019, such as the revised Mortgage
and Vehicle Loan rates (new and used cars), Debt
Consolidation Loan and the Line of Credit, which
garnered tremendous support by satisfying a
significant demand from members (potential
and existing) to increase their disposable income
by reducing the cost of their debt burdens. The
TECU Members’ Health Plan was also officially
launched in January 2019 and ended the year
with 3,802 members (2,549 active and 1,253
retired), with approximately 10,352 claims being
submitted amounting to $21,572,407.52.
As the Credit Union enters a new decade, the pace
of change will only accelerate and the unrelenting
requirement to innovate and create will feature
predominantly in TECU’s strategic intent. The
Board, management and all stakeholders will
need to continually keep investing in people as
well as products and services that improve our
communities, embed our purpose/core values in
everything we do and provide our members with
the convenient, accessible services they deserve.

Digital Transformation

As a members-based organisation, the Credit
Union’s raison d’être has never been just about
Return on Assets or membership counts. At
TECU, annual results must always represent real
people; those members in communities who
accessed financial services they may otherwise
have been denied, families who were able to find
housing they could afford, small businesses and
entrepreneurs that became more sustainable.
Results in a financial statement are a means to
an end, not an end in themselves.
At TECU, the Board holds management to a high
standard and there are a few areas that require
diligent focus and a firm resolve to improve. Our
valued members rightly have high expectations
about excellence in service quality and the speed
at which the Credit Union can evolve, providing
the digital products and services they want, and
the challenging environment demands. TECU
delivered several ‘game-changing’ product

Mr. Mervyn Kirk Baptiste, Mr. Brian Tangwell,
Dr. Brian Branch & Mr. Brent Zephyrine
At the World Credit Union Council (WCUC)
International Conference in 2019, the Chief
Executive Officer (Dr. Brian Branch, see photo),
shared WCUC’s main goal for 2025 as the global
digitisation of the credit union system.
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Digital transformation in TECU translates to the
process of integrating digital technology into
every aspect of the Credit Union’s business — from
our processes and culture to the experiences
we deliver. Making this shift will assist the
institution to increase operational efficiency,
offer better and more customised services to our
membership, achieve growing market demands,
and lay the foundation for continued innovation
and sustainability.
Digitalisation of TECU operations, which
commenced in earnest in 2019 with Robotic
Process Automation being deployed to assist
with Loan Deferrals et al, will comprise four (4)
phases with an objective to make TECU totally
digital by the end of 2022. This approach is
being followed to further address emerging
systemic risks and acquire relevant/cutting edge
technology. The main objective is to operate a
system where members should be able to perform
their business operations from the convenience
of their space, without coming to TECU. The aim
of the digitalisation programme is to address the
following:

Creating an Enhanced Service Experience
Providing exceptional service at TECU is not
simply an imperative in a members-owned
financial institution — it is the reason we exist.
As technology becomes more robust and our
members’ buying habits shift, it is incumbent on
all credit unions to be constantly seeking new
areas of innovation to meet the demands of a
21st century member. At TECU, commencing
2019 with the official establishment of a Member
Service Unit and the Board appointment of a
Committee whose sole remit is the enhancement
of the member experience, several initiatives
were implemented to achieve this goal.

•

Challenges posed by COVID-19 or similar
medical/social occurrences in the future

•

Reduce needless bureaucracy where not
required by law

•

Automate all repetitive tasks

•

Connect with members through secured
audio and video calling through a mobile app

The implementation of a digital Query Log
enabled the Member Service Team to respond
to aggrieved members within 24 hours of a
complaint being logged. This tracking and
response mechanism was geared to enhancing
the member experience by addressing queries
and concerns in a timely and more deliberate
manner. The Team is also charged with ‘walking
the floor’ to decrease members’ time in the
‘banking hall’ by channelling them in the right
areas and assisting in preparing the members to
complete their transactions in an efficient manner,
by ensuring that all documentation/transaction
prerequisites are in order. Additionally, the Team
is actively involved in process re-engineering to
ensure that the workflows are properly designed
to facilitate maximum productivity and minimum
disruption.

•

Improve quality of member data and start
digital marketing

The following are some of the other key objectives
being pursued to increase member satisfaction:

•

Develop digital tools to inform lending
decisions and effective loan monitoring

•

Utilise data analytics to create an enabling
environment for the member (online wallet,
premier shopping, price discounts, etc.)

•

Pursue digital financial inclusion for all
TECU members throughout the world via
interoperable payment platforms using opensource software.
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Empowered Employees

Employees outfitted with suitable resources to provide excellent
member service

Members’ Financial Literacy

Targetted financial programmes to build members’ tangible net
worth

Financial Technology (FINTECH)

Mobile Payment Options, Biometrics, Integrated Systems, Big Data,
Social Media, etc.

Advisor to Small Business (SME’s)

Developing Entrepreneurs during high unemployment

Personalised Member Service via
Market Segmentation

Big Data creates multiple opportunities for the personalisation of
products and services

Create Real Member Relationships

Build Trust, Be Transparent and Stay Consistent and Reliable

Portending
a
Worldwide
Institutional and Financial Crisis

Health,

The first human cases of COVID-19 were initially
reported in Wuhan City, China, in December 2019.
On 30 January 2020, the Director-General of
the World Health Organization (WHO) declared
the outbreak of COVID-19 to be a Public Health
Emergency of International Concern. The real
societal effects of this life altering, global
phenomenon would be truly realised in 2020, but
given the materiality of its impact and the timing
of this Report, it bears active consideration in
this review and the outlook for 2020 and beyond.
With the arrival of COVID-19, TECU’s Board and
management identified three (3) major business
challenges that needed to be addressed. These
were Maintaining Financial Sustainability,
Addressing
Staff’s
Fears/Concerns
and
adjusting Business Operations. While specific
‘at risk’ institutions were uncertain about the
survival of their businesses or their ability to

maintain employment levels; TECU’s focus
remained resolutely on the overall impact on
the local economy and the ‘knock on’ effects
to our membership. Business continuity for
the continued support of our members amidst
the inevitable spread of COVID-19 and keeping
employees safe were the organisation’s top
priorities. Measures put in place by the Credit
Union included purchasing extra hygiene
products, hosting virtual meetings, installing
screen guards in all high traffic areas, maintaining
adequate cash resources in the vaults and the
rostering of employees to maintain adequate
social distancing along with the implementation
of work-at-home options.
The impact of the virus will affect the global
economy in three phases, each with its separate
consequentiality:
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HEALTH CRISIS
Sick and Unable to Work
Financially Fragile
Laid Off
Deaths
Unable to Generate Income
Unable to Pay Loans
Loss of Savings
INSTITUTIONAL CRISIS

JOBS

Loan Default
Increased Write Offs
Increased Provisions
Increased Share Withdrawals
Decreased Liquidity
Slower Growth
Reduced Capital Position
GLOBAL RECESSION
Unemployment
Delinquency
Small Business Failure
Social Unrest
Limited Lending Opportunities
Digital Transformation
Insolvency
Sector Consolidations

As COVID-19 continues to affect nearly all aspects
of daily life, the Credit Union must continue to
implement updated measures to unceasingly
safeguard not only the wellbeing of members and
employees, but also the longevity of shareholder
value and financial stability.

Economic Review
Based on information obtained from the Central
Bank of Trinidad and Tobago (CBTT) Monetary
Policy Announcement (December 27, 2019), in
the third quarter of 2019 natural gas production
increased to 3,604 million cubic feet per day,
which was 3.7% above output in the same quarter

32

of 2018, despite maintenance shutdowns at two
large natural gas platforms. This spurred yearon-year increases in petrochemicals (23.3%) and
liquefied natural gas (8%).
At the same time, over the third quarter of 2019,
crude oil production remained at its level of just
under 60,000 barrels per day during the first
half of the year, compared with a daily average
of around 64,000 barrels in calendar year 2018,
a reflection of the ongoing maturation of the oil
fields. In the non-energy sectors, preliminary
data for indicators monitored by the CBTT
pointed to modest expansions in the Distribution
and Finance Sectors during the third quarter.
An uptick in local sales of cement suggests that
construction activity was responding to the rise
in Public Sector Infrastructural Investments.
According to data from the Central Statistical
Office (CSO), headline inflation slowed to .3%
in the twelve months to November 2019, with
core inflation (which excludes food prices)
also decelerating to .6%. On the labour front,
the Ministry of Labour and Small Enterprise
Development reported that the number of
persons retrenched during January to October
2019 rose by 27% year-on-year.
Based on the timing of this Report, it is also
noteworthy that the global economy has been
significantly impacted by COVID-19 pandemic.
According to the World Bank, “The pandemic
represents the largest economic shock the world
economy has witnessed in decades, causing a
collapse in global activity…”
The mitigation measures put in place globally
such as lockdowns, school closures and nonessential business closures to manage the
burden on the healthcare system and reduce
the spread, crippled economic activity in
2020. With a decline in consumption and
investment, increased unemployment and lower
fuel consumption as production slowed and
international trade volumes declined, the world
economies experienced sharp declines in GDP in
2020.
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IMF - World Economic Outlook October 2020
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In Trinidad and Tobago (T&T), accommodating
fiscal policy and complementary monetary policy
from the CBTT, attempted to provide a social net
to the most vulnerable in society and to spur
segments of the economy. Previous forecasts
by the IMF suggested a growth rate of 1.5% in
2020 but the COVID-19 pandemic has led to a
forecasted economic contraction of 5.6% for
2020.

in excess reserves that the banking sector holds
and has not led to any notable increases in credit
growth. Business credit contracted by 6.1%
year-on-year as at June 2020. The weak credit
response was due to both demand and supply
factors as businesses still seem reluctant to
borrow, given the uncertain environment, while
banks are cautious about assuring the quality of
fresh loans.

The reduced global demand for oil and natural
gas due to global lockdown measures reduced
the earning capacity of the country.

Financial Year in Review

To mitigate the negative impact of the pandemic
and to protect the most vulnerable, the
Government implemented certain extraordinary
measures. With the collapse of oil and gas
revenue and in the context of pandemic-related
expenditure, the budget deficit for fiscal 2020 is
projected at TTD $16.8 billion or approximately
11% of GDP.
Several monetary policy measures (reductions in
Reserve Requirements, Repo Rates, etc.) aimed at
boosting economic activity were implemented to
spur increased lending to companies/individuals
that needed access to emergency funding to
survive the pandemic. However, the impact lag of
monetary policy stymied anticipated growth as
the reduction in rates led to a dramatic increase

At the end of a challenging fiscal period due to
rising unemployment, higher corporate taxation
and lower consumer credit demand, TECU’s 2019
year-end financial performance demonstrated
all stakeholders’ determined resolve to achieve
reasonable growth despite the economic
hardships.
Taking cognizance of the primary key
performance indicators, targets were either
exceeded or reflected marginal growth. Despite
the initial negative impact of the closure of the
refinery operations at PETROTRIN in November
2018, which resulted in the Credit Union’s
membership decreasing by 6% (2,677 members)
in 2019, the resilience of the Credit Union was
demonstrably illustrated in the continued
robustness of TECU’s asset base and capital
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adequacy. Members’ overall confidence was also
corroborated in a 5% ($79.2 million) growth in
Members’ Shares. Total assets similarly grew by
5% ($112.3 million year-on-year) to $2.2 billion at
the end of 2019. Total Income remained relatively
flat and amounted to $120.9 million, a marginal
increase of .2% year-on-year ($.2 million). There
was a 32% ($19.8 million) overall increase in
expenses year-on-year and this was primarily due
to the pronounced uptick ($15.7 million) in Loan
Loss Provision Expense from $946,851 in 2018 to
approximately $16.6 million in 2019. Based on the
review conducted for the audited fiscal period, it
was determined that an increase in the provision
was required, to satisfy the statutory obligation

for any potential losses that may be incurred on
the basis on net realisable value.
Notwithstanding a precipitous drop in consumer
loan demand throughout 2019, TECU was still
able to generate a reasonable Loans Granted
tally, to achieve 89% of the year-end target
($265.7 million).
TECU’s Net Surplus decreased year-on-year from
$59 Million in 2018 to $39.4 million in 2019, a
decline of $19.6 million (33%) due in large part to
the prodigious rise in expenses.
The following table gives a year-on-year
comparison on TECU’s performance for 2019 vs
2018:

2019

2018

TT$M

TT$M

TT$M

2,213.5

2,101.2

112.3

5

2,003.8

1,892.9

110.9

6

1,698.7

1,619.5

79.2

5

704

703.1

.9

.1

1,254.4

1,083.1

171.3

16

Loans Granted

265.7

273.3

(7.6)

(3)

Income

120.9

120.7

.2

.2

Expenses

81.5

61.7

19.8

32

Net Surplus
(Core Business)

39.4

59

(19.6)

(33)

46,811

44,427

Assets
Liabilities
Members’ Shares
Loans to Members
Investments

Membership

34

TECU CREDIT UNION ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Changes 2019 - 2018

2,384

% Change
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Growth in Assets
2500

Growth in Assets 2015-2019

2,213.5
2,038.8 2,101.2
2000 1,874.2 1,989.7

($ million)

Assets increased by $112.3 million (5%) from
$2.1 billion in 2018 to $2.2 billion in 2019, due
primarily to an increase in member deposits
and the recognition of the market value of the
Chaguanas lands (refer to Notes 11,12 and 21 in the
Financial Statements). Despite modest returns on
investments and reduced borrowing appetites,
TECU was able to adopt a prudent investment
strategy while engaging in initiatives to increase
borrowings via new product development with
enhanced terms.

1500
1000
500
0

2015

2016

2017
Year

2018

2019

Loans to Members increased marginally by $0.9
million (0.1%) to $704 million. All categories of
the loan portfolio grew year-on-year with the
exception of Vehicle Loans (Mortgage bill of sale
loans) and Computer Loans. Investment Loans
grew by 55% with a $17 million increase when
compared to 2018. Increased provisioning for
loan losses with the adoption of the accounting
standard IFRS 9 impacted the portfolio as
provisioning increased from $35 million in 2018 to
$45.5 million in 2019. Subdued lending continued
into 2019 as Central Bank reports show that
borrowing only increased 3.9% year-on-year
across the industry with the growth primarily
coming from non-bank financial institutions.
Refer to Note 8 in the Financial Statements.

($ million)

Loan Balances

Loan Balances 2015-2019
800
699.5 728.4 703.1
700
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704.0
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Growth in Investments

1500

Growth in Investments 2015-2019

1200 1,066.4
1,113.0 1,083.1
1,038.7
900

($ million)

The value of TECU’s Investment Portfolio
increased by 16% ($171.3 million) year-on-year.
The increase was due to a myriad of factors
including investing $81 million from Cash and
Cash Equivalents into longer term investments
at a higher return. Price appreciation in the
managed portfolios and the equity portfolios also
contributed to the growth of the portfolio. Refer
to Notes 7 and 9 in the Financial Statements.

1,254.4

600
300
0

2015

2016

2017
Year

2018

2019
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Revenue remained relatively flat in 2019. Interest
income from loans declined by $9.12 million
whilst income from investments increased by
$10.9 million. Despite the maintenance of the
loan portfolio size in 2019, lower loan rates and
the pickup in lending in the last quarter of 2019,
resulted in lower income generated during the
year. Due to the relatively low demand for the
first three quarters of 2019, increased short term
investments helped to close the income gap.
Expenses
Total Expenses increased by $19.8 million (32%)
year-on-year. The Credit Union managed to keep
core expenses well within the budget, however
these savings were overshadowed by the
significant increase in The Loan Loss Provision
due to new requirements by the Accounting
Standards. The provision increased by $15.7
million. Statutory levies also eroded core expense
savings as it increased 187% year-on-year from
$0.4 million to $1.1 million in 2019 (see note 26).

($ million)

900
600
300

0

160
120

($ million)

Income
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2015
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2019
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2017
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Revenue 2015-2019
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Growth in Members' Shares 2015-2019

1,698.7
1,534.5 1,617.7
1500 1,405.7 1,491.6
1200

($ million)

Members’ shares increased by 5% ($79.2 million)
in 2019 and reflects the continued confidence
that the membership has placed in their Credit
Union. Despite all the macroeconomic challenges
(both existing and potential), our members
persist in the belief of TECU’s value proposition
for “creating and securing their financial future”.
The Board and management take this trust
reverentially and commit to holding this mandate
as the guiding principle of all decision making.

1800

($ million)

Growth in Members’ Shares

2015

2019

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Loans Granted 2019

Salaries, wages
& Assoc. beneﬁt
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Growth in Membership
TECU’s membership grew by 2,384 to 46,811 (5%)
in 2019. In 2019, the strategy of diversifying the
membership based on geography, employment
and business sectors and other key demographics
continued apace, together with providing
ancillary benefits such as the TECU Members’
Health Plan. These strategies and supplementary
member benefits have assisted the Credit Union
in its competitiveness and improved the value
proposition to members.

Delinquency
Following the closure of refinery operations at
PETROTRIN and the considerable ‘knock on’
effect nationally (and in particular upstream,
downstream and peripheral business in the South/
South West peninsula), rising unemployment and
job uncertainties resulted in members’ inability
to consistently satisfy their debt obligations.
TECU’s Credit Management team continued to
work diligently to creatively and innovatively
recover delinquent debt and to work with our ‘at
risk’ members experiencing challenges in loan
repayment. Loan Payment Deferrals and Debt
Consolidation Loans featured prominently as
key mechanisms to assist legitimate claims for
staving off delinquencies. Further strategies that
were employed included debt rescheduling and
the realisation of collateral (in extreme cases).
The delinquency figure as at December 31, 2019

was 7% and totalled $47.1 million (in 2018 the
delinquency rate was 4.94% totalling $36.6
million).

Outlook for 2020/2021
Global growth is expected to rebound in 2021
with a projected growth rate of 5.2%. The growth
projections imply wide negative output gaps and
elevated unemployment rates in 2020 and 2021
across both advanced and emerging market
economies. Additionally, with the COVID-19
virus continuing to spread, and some countries
reinstating partial lockdowns to control spread,
the global economy’s journey to the level of
economic activity ‘pre-pandemic’ is filled with
uncertainty.
Moreover,
tourism-dependent
nations and commodity-based economies
face the most difficult battle and the greatest
uncertainty in economic recovery efforts.
The Trinidad and Tobago economy is forecasted
to grow at 2.6% in 2021. Driving this growth
would be an expected uptick in energy prices
as well as increased external demand for the
hydrocarbons produced in the country.
The growth for countries worldwide will be highly
dependent on the reopening of the economy,
despite social distancing measures and a
resumption in trade and manufacturing coupled
with the impact of an effective vaccination.
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Attendance Record
The Board of Directors held twelve (12) Statutory
Meetings and five (5) Special Board Meetings.
The table below indicates attendance at these
2019 meetings:
BOARD ATTENDANCE
Statutory Board Meetings
Name

Present

Absent

Excused

Present

Absent

Excused

Kenneth Allum

12

0

0

3

0

2

Ian-Michael Haynes

12

0

0

4

0

1

Sandra Matthews-Noel

10

0

2

5

0

0

Lucy Ottley

12

0

0

5

0

0

Joyann Ali-Jahoor

10

0

2

1

0

4

Orville Andrews

12

0

0

5

0

0

Kent Byer

5

0

0

1

0

0

Leonard Chan Chow

9

0

3

3

0

2

Inga Crichlow

6

0

1

2

0

2

4

0

8

2

0

3

3

0

2

1

0

0

6

0

1

3

0

1

Stephen Tang

11

0

1

4

0

1

Brent Zephyrine

11

0

1

5

0

0

1

2

André Hosein
Jason Matthews

3

Anthony Solomon

2

Statute Barred

1

Special Board Meetings

2

Elected at the Annual General Meeting in 2019

3

Not re-elected at Annual General Meeting in 2019
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Condolences
The Board extends heartfelt condolences to
the families, relatives and friends of our dearly
departed members who passed during 2019.
We hope that they rest in peace and that you
continue to celebrate the love and joy of their
memories.

Acknowledgments
The Board of Directors extends its appreciation
to our loyal members, for your unstinting
support during the year as TECU’s successes
could not be possible without your commitment
and confidence in this institution.
We acknowledge our members of staff for their
dedication and commitment to the continued
growth of TECU.
Special homage is paid to our team of volunteers
of the Statutory Committees - Credit and
Supervisory Committees and all Board Appointed
Committees.
The Board of Directors also wishes to acknowledge
the support received from our Regulator, fellow
Co-operators, our Attorneys, Insurers and
Affiliated Companies during 2019.
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY
COMMITTEE

The Supervisory Committee 2019/2020 comprised of the following (left-right): Dianne Lochan
(Chairman), Bernadette Roberts (Secretary), Steve Chadee (Officer), Stephen Ramsden (Officer),
Remington Redhead (Officer), Jacqueline Newton (First Alternate) and Alisha Ramdeen (Second
Alternate)
In accordance with TECU’s Bye-Law No. 40, the
Supervisory Committee met weekly to review
the operations of the organisation. During the
period under review, forty (40) meetings were
held by the Committee for the 2019/2020 term.

Treasurer and Secretary) did not maintain
minutes of its meetings. The Supervisory
Committee recommended that this subcommittee of the Board and all other subcommittees produce clearly documented
and signed off minutes to record the
decisions made and to provide the required
transparency and accountability.

During this period the Supervisory Committee
reviewed the following:

1.

Minutes of
Meetings

Board

of

Directors

2.

Board minutes up to November 2019
were received and reviewed in order to
keep abreast of the operations of TECU.
The Supervisory Committee noted that
the Executive Committee of the Board
(comprised of the President, Vice President,
40
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General Manager’s Report
The General Manager’s monthly reports to
the Board of Directors were reviewed. Based
on this review, the Committee investigated
and requested further information into
areas deemed risky to the organisation.

REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

3.

Member Service

6.

As promised at the end of the 2018/2019
term, the Supervisory Committee placed
emphasis on member service. The
Committee was informed by the General
Manager that a member service team was
established comprising of representatives
from the three (3) branches. The team
is required to “walk the floor” to provide
assistance to members with queries. The
team will be equipped with tablets and
queries will be logged for ease of followup. The Committee welcomes this initiative
and will be monitoring the effectiveness of
this new system. A recommendation was
made to the Board and General Manager
to improve the loans process with a view
to reducing the cycle time and the ease of
doing business.

4.

The Supervisory Committee found that there
was inconsistent compliance with the Petty
Cash policy. The Supervisory Committee
raised the matter with the General Manager
who agreed that all departments that are
required to make small value purchases
outside of the Procurement Policy will be
required to adhere to the Petty Cash policy.

7.

8.

9.
The Supervisory Committee found that
there was little progress in the area of policy
development. Many of the draft policies
have remained unchanged. The Committee
has been proactive and requested
certain policies for review. Comments
and suggested changes for improvement
of the documents were proposed. The
Supervisory Committee is of the view that
inadequate importance is being placed on
the establishment of clear policies to guide
the operations of the credit union.

Monitoring of Mortgage Loans
The Supervisory Committee recommended
better
management
of
mortgage
applications and that a more comprehensive
report be submitted to the General Manager
on the applications that were awaiting
disbursement. We are pleased to report that
this recommendation was accepted and
procedures are to be implemented which
would result in more accurate reporting of
mortgage loan applications.

Delinquency

Policies and Procedures

Investments
The Committee reviewed investments made
during the 2019/2020 term and observed
that these investments adhered to the
investment guidelines and polices.

The Committee focused on delinquency and
noted that the delinquency ratio increased
above the five percent (5%) standard.
The Supervisory Committee is of the view
that a greater effort by the Board and
Management is required to ensure that the
Total Loan Delinquency is kept below five
percent (5%) as per the PEARLS standard.

5.

Petty Cash Management

Terms of Reference of Non-Statutory
Committees
The Supervisory Committee requested
the Terms of Reference for the various
sub-committees and observed that some
were in draft. This was highlighted in the
All-Statutory Committees meeting held
in September 2019 and the Committee
recommended that these be finalised
expeditiously to ensure that the subcommittees operate within their remit. Todate no feedback has been received from
the Board.
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10. External
Letter

Auditor’s

Management

The external auditor’s management letter
was reviewed to understand the issues
or risks noted during the annual external
audit and the remedying actions proposed
by TECU to address same. However, the
responses provided by the General Manager
were very brief and provided little details as
to how the issues will be addressed. Mere
acceptance of the issues is unacceptable
and creates a scenario where follow-up is
difficult and also allows for issues to remain
unaddressed.

11.

large investment is being actively pursued
without a proper appraisal of the costs,
benefits and any associated risks, including
a consideration of any external factors
which may adversely affect the decision.

12. Compliance Reports
The Supervisory Committee reviewed the
Compliance reports for period January 2019
to August 2019 and noted that the areas of
concern/non-compliance and TECU’s risk
levels have remained generally the same
throughout the period. A concerted effort
by the General Manager is required to
address the recurring issues and to reduce
TECU’s compliance risks.

Capital Projects
a. The New Point Fortin Office Building
The Supervisory Committee reviewed
the tender documents and carried out
a site visit of the property during the
renovations.
The Committee raised
concerns regarding various processes and
made recommendations for improvement.
The Committee remains dissatisfied with
the “structural assessment” report and the
process adopted to produce justification
for the structural readiness and occupancy
of the building.

13. Provision of Information
During the term, requests were submitted
for various documents to be reviewed
by the Supervisory Committee. Board
minutes were provided late, at times
up to five (5) months. This protracted
delivery of information delayed the review
by the Committee and restricted the
Committee’s ability to make timely input
and recommendations. The Supervisory
Committee continues to express its
disappointment with the Board of Directors
responses to the concerns raised by the
Committee.

b. The New ICT Data Center Building
The Supervisory Committee reviewed the
justification documents for acquiring a
new ICT Data Center which is to be built
at a Tier III level to accommodate Data
Center outsourcing to other Credit Unions.
A request was made for the Cost Benefit
Analysis that was conducted in support
of this multi-million dollar project. Todate the requested documentation has
not been forthcoming. The Supervisory
Committee is gravely concerned that this
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The Supervisory Committee wishes to thank the
Board of Directors, Management, Staff and fellow
Committees of TECU for their support and cooperation during our term of office. We thank our
members for demonstrating confidence in us and
the Credit Union and we look forward to serving
you again during the 2020/2021 term.
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REPORT OF THE CREDIT COMMITTEE

The Credit Committee 2019/2020 comprised of the following (left-right): Wesley Huggins
(Chairman), Norman Arjoon (Secretary), Michelle Badal, Garth Baptiste, Mervyn Baptiste, Esther
Cruikshank (First Alternate) and Joanne George-Lynch (Second Alternate).
LOANS APPROVED/NOT APPROVED

2018

2019

% Change

Loan Applications Reviewed

1023

821

(19.7%)

Loans Approved

839

741

(11.7%)

$77,030,828

$97,187,972

26.2%

124

80

(35.5%)

$9,582,738

$3,257,941

(66.0%)

Value of Loans Approved
Loans Declined
Value of Loans Not approved

For the period January 01, 2019 to December 31,
2019, forty-nine (49) meetings were held, wherein
821 applications were presented and reviewed. Of
these 821 applications, the committee was able to
approve 741 loan applications representing 90.3
% of submitted applications. The number of loans
reviewed was down by nearly 20% from the 2018
period, however the value of approved loans has
increased by 26% over the same period.
As reported by the Central Bank, from a continued
backdrop of flat to minimal economic growth
in Trinidad and Tobago, economic indicators
suggest activity picked up in the third quarter of
2019 compared to one year earlier.
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Debt Consolidation
The Debt Consolidation Loan Product was
introduced to our members at promotional
interest rates ranging from 6% to 12% annually
and up to a maximum tenor of ten (10) years.
The Debt Service Ratio (DSR) was increased
from 45% to 50% on a case by case basis. This
loan promotion allowed members to combine
their higher interest rate debts to improve their
financial well-being.
In December 2019, the committee recorded
an increased approved loan value of over $4M
in comparison to November 2019. Our Debt
Consolidation Loans have made significant
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contribution in loan value and it is hope that we
will continue to see increases in 2020.

during the period under review eighteen (18)
member interviews were conducted to obtain
clarification on from the member on their loan
application.

Statement of Affairs
The Committee continues to demonstrate due
diligence with member’s Statement of Affairs
(SOA) and DSRs. These items are reviewed,
checked and signed by members, loan officers
and senior loan officer.

Looking Forward
With the economic outlook, as commented
by the Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago,
projected ‘to remain relatively subdued in 2020’,
the volume of loan applications is expected to
remain relatively flat.

Loan Supervision
The Credit Committee continues to randomly
select and review approved loans at the three (3)
branches. these approved loans must conform to
TECU’s lending and credit policy. Additionally,

Statistics
The following is the statistical data for the period
under review:

Branch

Character
Loans

Mortgage
Loans

Vehicle
Loans

Couva

112

10

29

Total Not
Approved

Total
Reviewed

151

17

168

359

39

72

470

49

519

Point Fortin

89

11

20

120

14

134

Term Total

560

60

121

741

80

821

Branch

Total
Approved

Sum Approved
($)

Total Not
Approved

Sum Not Approved
($)

Total Not
Approved %

Couva

151

19,686,507

17

1,387,674

10.1%

Marabella

470

59,742,665

49

1,487,667

9.4%

Point Fortin

120

17,758,800

14

382,600

10.5%

Grand Total

741

$97,187,972

80

$3,257,941

9.7%

Marabella

Total
Approved

2019 Loan Demand Month-by-Month ($ millions)

2019 Loans
Marabella 61%
$59,742,665
Couva 20%
$19,686,507

9.5
6.5

11.6

10.9
9.3

9.2
6.3

7.0

7.8

8.6

7.4

Point Fortin 18%
$17,758,800
Total $97,187,972

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul

Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
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REPORT OF THE EDUCATION
COMMITTEE

The following persons served on the Education Committee for the period under review:

Ian-Michael Haynes (Convenor), Brent Zephyrine (Deputy Convenor), Jennie Alleyne,
Keisha Francis, Joy Jarvis

Jacqueline Newton, Simon Gowrie, Nadine Pirtheesingh, Alisha Ramdeen, Pamela Dass

In 2019, the Education Committee embarked on
a number of initiatives geared towards the socioeconomic development, wealth management
and financial awareness of TECU’s membership.
Among some of these undertakings were
the production of the Credit Union’s three
newsletters for the year, and the organisation of
two Development Workshops:

Three Induction Sessions were held in March,
July and September. One of these sessions was
streamed live via social media in an attempt to
cater to a wider audience, being mindful of the
convenience of our members.
As a testament of its unwavering commitment
to safeguarding the educational wellbeing of
our nation’s youth, in particular, our members
and their children, the Education Committee
hosted TECU’s Secondary Entrance Assessment
(S.E.A.) and Tertiary Bursary Awards Function,

•

Financial Management / Planning

•

Wills and Estates
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which accommodated the disbursement of over
$140,000 to 150 academic enthusiasts. The annual
Children’s Christmas Party for underprivileged
and at-risk youth, including those from the Credit
Union’s fence-line communities, schools and
Children’s Homes, was the culmination of the
year’s activities.

Cognizant of the need for enhanced camaraderie
amongst the Co-operative Movement, TECU
extended its support to UWI Credit Union Cooperative Society’s Ole’ Mas Competition. We
also actively participated in a Joint Credit Union
All Fours Competition, in which TECU achieved
third place.

In an historic move for 2019, the World Council
of Credit Unions (WOCCU) and the Caribbean
Confederation of Credit Unions (CCCU) hosted a
joint conference in the Bahamas from 28-31 July.
Comprising TECU’s five (5)-member contingent
was a representative from the Education
Committee, who submitted a comprehensive
report to TECU’s management on the “ways
in which emerging technological trends can
be harnessed for the benefit of all members”,
especially our millennials whose interests and
active participation we continually seek to
engage.

As part of its continued thrust to effectively
apprise members of both the quality and
range of facilities and properties owned by its
many stakeholders, the Committee also visited
TECU’s Tobago holdings, including the recently
refurbished Coral Reef Resort.
The Education Committee acknowledges
TECU’s Board of Directors, other Committees,
Management and Staff for their noble efforts in
support of its work programme for 2019. To this
end, we are optimistic that our future endeavours
in 2020 would be met with as much enthusiasm
and commitment as was shown in 2019.

WHEREVER YOU ARE, YOU CAN CONNECT WITH US

47

REPORT OF THE NOMINATING
COMMITTEE

1.

Appointment of Nominating
Committee

4.

The Nominating Committee of TECU Credit
Union Co-operative Society Limited (TECU)
was appointed by the Board of Directors on
May 29, 2019. The primary responsibility of
the Nominating Committee is to create a
slate with suitable Nominees for election at
the Annual General Meeting (AGM).

2.

Duty of the Nominating Committee
Clause 50 of the Bye-Laws of TECU
states that the duty of the Nominating
Committee “shall be the screening and
selection of Nominees, in accordance
with the criteria set by the Board, to be
considered for election to the Board, Credit
and Supervisory Committees”.
These
Nominees will be considered at the AGM to
fill the following vacant positions:
•
•
•

3.

Board of Directors – four (4) positions
Credit Committee – five (5) positions
Supervisory Committee – five (5)
positions

Composition
Committee

of

the

Nominating

The Nominating Committee was comprised
of the following members:
Mrs. Inga Crichlow - Convenor
Mrs. Lucy Ottley - Deputy Convenor
Mrs. Sheriba Ali-Rajack
Mr. Robert J. Andrews
Mr. Neal Ramasra
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Nomination and Selection Process
The nomination process commenced with
the issuing of e-mails and SMS messages
to the members asking them to indicate
their interest in serving their Credit Union.
One Hundred and Five (105) members
responded.
An information session,
facilitated by the Office of the Commissioner
for Co-operative Development (CCD), was
hosted on December 10, 2019. Sixty (60)
members of the one hundred and five
(105} responders were in attendance. The
Nomination Notice was published during
the period January 20 to February 22, 2020,
in the daily newspapers and on TECU’s
website. The deadline for submission of
Application Packages was February 28,
2020. Twenty (20) Application Packages
were received.
Candidates’ Application Packages were
opened and screened for compliance with
the guidelines outlined in the Application
Package.
One (1) Applicant, who did not meet the
criteria, was given an opportunity to comply
and failed to do so within the required
timeframe.
The interview and assessment stage
included panel interviews conducted by the
members of the Nominating Committee
and an assessment of the content of the
Application Package. At the conclusion
of this stage, the applications of all
eligible candidates were approved, and
the candidates were recommended as
Nominees to be included on the ballot.

REPORT OF THE NOMINATING COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

The Nominating Committee, having
completed the Nomination and Selection
Process, hereby recommends for election
at the 2020 AGM, the following Nominees,
by Committee:

composition of the Board of Directors
inclusive of two (2) alternates.
c) Consistent with Clauses 15 (vi) and
39 (i) and (iv) of the Bye-Laws and
practice of TECU, a minimum of two
(2) additional Nominees are required
to satisfy the composition of the
Supervisory Committee inclusive of
two (2) alternates.

a) Board of Directors
•
•
•
•
•

Raffiena Ali-Boodoosingh
Kenneth Allum*
Kent Byer
Ian-Michael Haynes*
Patrice Melissa Valentine

d) In spite of the recommendations of the
Nominating Committee, any financial
member has the right to nominate other
members from the floor at the AGM
to the Board, Credit and Supervisory
Committees, in accordance with Clause
50 (d) of the Bye-Laws of TECU. The
Nominating Committee wishes to
state that members nominated from
the floor at the AGM would not have
been exposed to the nomination
process. As a result, their suitability
for office cannot be validated.

b) Credit Committee
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Michelle Badal *
Garth Anthony Baptiste*
Mervyn Kirk Baptiste *
Esther Cruickshank-Jerome
Wesley Huggins*
Rishi Katwaroo
Josanne Lawrence
Vilma Quamina
Rachel Rampersadsingh

c) Supervisory Committee
•
•
•
•
•

5.

Junior Marcelle
Jacqueline Newton
Chantel Perryman
Bernadette Roberts*
Nigel Seenathsingh

The following notes are germane to the
election process, and relevant to the
nomination and election of members for
office at TECU’s AGM:
a) * denotes outgoing Officers seeking reelection;
b) Consistent with Clauses 15 (vi) and 37
(i) and (iv) of the Bye-Laws and practice
of TECU, at least one (1) additional
Nominee is required to satisfy the

Conclusion
The Nominating Committee wishes to
convey its thanks to the Board of Directors
for the privilege to serve the Credit
Union in this capacity. In recognition
of the significance of the Nomination
and Selection Process, the Nominating
Committee undertook diligently to fulfill its
mandate by securing and recommending
suitable Nominees for the vacant positions
on TECU’s leadership Committees.
Mrs. Inga Crichlow - Convenor
Mrs. Lucy Ottley - Deputy Convenor
Mrs. Sheriba Ali-Rajack
Mr. Robert J. Andrews
Mr. Neal Ramasra
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NOMINEE PROFILES
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Raffiena Ali-Boodoosingh
Mrs. Ali-Boodoosingh has been a TECU member for twenty-nine (29) years. She
held the position of primary school principal for twelve (12) years prior to her
retirement. Her expertise is in education.

Kenneth Allum
Mr. Allum has been a TECU member for twenty-nine (29) years. He is a retiree with
thirty-eight (38) years’ service in the Petroleum Sector. Mr. Allum has served on
several Board Committees. His expertise is in Chemical Engineering, Management
and Leadership.

Kent Byer
Mr. Byer has been a TECU member for thirty-three (33) years. He is the General
Manager (Ag.) at LinCU. Mr. Byer has served on the Board of Directors and
various Board Committees. Also, he is a member of the Legislative Committee.
His expertise is in Information and Communications Technology.

Ian-Michael Haynes
Mr. Haynes has been a TECU member for forty-five (45) years. He has served
on TECU’s Board of Directors since 1994. He has also served as Conveor and
a member and of several Board Committees during his tenure. Mr. Haynes is a
retiree with forty (40) years’ service in the Petroleum sector. His expertise is in
Inspection, Engineering Services and HSSE.
Patrice Melissa Valentine
Ms. Valentine has been a TECU member for eighteen (18) years. She is a Human
Resources Officer at the Caribbean Court of Justice. Her expertise is in Human
Resource Management.

CREDIT COMMITTEE
Michelle Badal
Ms. Badal has been a TECU member for seventeen (17) years. She is a retired
Maintenance Supervisor. Ms. Badal has served on TECU’s Credit Committee
for six (6) years. Her expertise is in Building & Property Maintenance and Civil
Engineering.
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Garth Anthony Baptiste
Mr. Baptiste has been a TECU member for thirteen (13) years. He is employed
as Director, Properties and Projects at Unicomer (Trinidad) Limited. Mr. Baptiste
served as a member of the Credit Committee for the 2019/2020 term. He is a
qualified Quantity Surveyor and Project Manager with over forty (40) years’
experience.
Mervyn Kirk Baptiste
Mr. Baptiste has been a TECU member for eighteen (18) years. He is employed at
International Engineering Consortium Limited. Mr. Baptiste has served on the
Credit Committee for the past two years. His expertise is in Accounting, Finance
and Corporate Governance.

Esther Cruickshank-Jerome
Mrs. Cruickshank-Jerome has been a TECU member for three (3) years. She is a
self-employed person and is the Managing Director of Caribbean Home & Office
Janitorial Facilities Services Limited.

Rishi Katwaroo
Mr. Katwaroo has been a TECU member for seventeen (17) years. He is member of
the Board of Directors of Cara Courts Apartments Limited. Mr. Katwaroo is also
a Committee member of the OWTU Pointe-a-Pierre branch. His expertise is in
Process Operations.

Josanne Lawrence
Ms. Lawrence has been a TECU member for twelve (12) years. She is employed as
a Payroll Lead at Heritage Petroleum Company Limited. Ms. Lawrence’s expertise
is in Finance.

Vilma Quamina
Ms. Quamina has been a TECU member for fifteen (15) years. She is employed
as a Senior Teacher with the Ministry of Education. Ms. Quamina’s expertise is in
Education.

Rachel Rampersadsingh
Ms. Rampersadsingh has been a TECU member for seven (7) years. She is employed
as an Engineer at the Water & Sewerage Authority. Ms. Rampersadsingh’s
expertise is in Engineering.
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE
Junior Marcelle
Mr. Marcelle has been a TECU member for sixteen (16) years. He has been a
member of the Trinidad & Tobago Police Service for twenty-two (22) years. His
expertise is in Financial Investigation.

Jacqueline Newton
Ms. Newton has been a TECU member for twenty-five (25) years. She holds the
position of Community Facility Co-ordinator with the Ministry of Community
Development, Culture and the Arts. Ms. Newton has served on TECU’s Education
Committee for fifteen (15) years. Her expertise is in Events Management.

Chantel Perryman
Ms. Perryman has been a TECU member for nineteen (19) years. She is employed
as an Auditor at the Eastern Regional Health Authority. Her expertise is in Auditing
and Taxation.

Bernadette Roberts
Ms. Roberts has been a TECU member for thirty-four (34) years. She is a retired
Senior ICT Architect with over thirty-five (35) years’ experience. Ms. Roberts
served on TECU’s Supervisory Committee for the 2019/2020 term. Her expertise
is in Information Technology.

Nigel Seenathsingh
Mr. Seenathsingh has been a TECU member for six (6) years. He has held the
position of Sales Executive at Southern Sales & Service Company Limited for the
past fourteen (14) years. His expertise is in Business Administration.
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT
RESPONSIBILITIES
TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited
Management is responsible for the following:
•

Preparing and fairly presenting the accompanying financial statements of TECU Credit Union Cooperative Society Limited (“the Credit Union”), which comprise the statement of financial position as
at December 31, 2019, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information;

•

Ensuring that the Credit Union keeps proper accounting records;

•

Selecting appropriate accounting policies and applying them in a consistent manner;

•

Implementing, monitoring and evaluating the system of internal control that assures security of
the Credit Union’s assets, detection/prevention of fraud, and the achievement of the Credit Union’s
operational efficiencies;

•

Ensuring that the system of internal control operated effectively during the reporting period;

•

Producing reliable financial reporting that comply with laws and regulations, including the Corporative
Societies Act; and

•

Using reasonable and prudent judgement in the determination of estimates.

In preparing these financial statements, management utilised the International Financial Reporting
Standards, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and adopted by the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of Trinidad and Tobago. Where International Financial Reporting Standards
presented alternative accounting treatments, management chose those considered most appropriate in
the circumstances. Nothing has come to the attention of management to indicate that the Credit Union
will not remain a going concern for the next twelve months from the reporting date; or up to the date the
accompanying financial statements have been authorised for issue, if later. Management affirms that it has
carried out its responsibilities as outlined above.

			
Brian Tangwell
December 21, 2020

Adina Nicholson
December 21, 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Members of TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Qualified Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited (“the Credit
Union”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019, the statements of
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the Bases for Qualified Opinion
section of our report, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Credit Union as at December 31, 2019, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Bases for Qualified Opinion
We used our proprietary statistical monetary sampling technique to determine the sample sizes for
substantive testing of Loans to members, Members’ deposits and Members’ shares. Management was unable
to provide us with sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy the accuracy and existence assertions of
individual members’ balances represented in those financial statement balances. We were unable to satisfy
ourselves by alternative means concerning the accuracy and existence of 9%, 2% and 1% of Loans to
members, Members’ deposits and Members’ shares balances, which are stated in the statements of financial
position at $704,023,198, $233,295,029 and $1,698,658,742, respectively.
As a result of these matters, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments might have been found
necessary in respect of recorded or unrecorded Loans to members, Members’ deposits and Members’ shares,
the related elements making up the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows.
The Credit Union’s accounting policy for recognition of interest revenue on Loans to members is the cash
basis which is not in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments which requires the an entity to calculate
interest revenue by using the effective interest method, whereby the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset. In addition, IFRS 9 states that an entity is required to recognize
a loss allowance for expected credit losses on a financial asset measured at amortized cost to which the
impairment requirements of IFRS 9 apply. Had the Credit Union used the effective interest rate method
to calculate interest revenue and applied the impairment requirements of IFRS 9 on the resulting interest
receivable; the Accounts receivable and prepayments as at December 31, 2019 would have increased by
$5,800,000 (2018: $5,700,000) and the provision would have increased by $4,500,000 as at December 31,
2019 (2018: $3,200,000). These adjustments will result in an increase in the brought forward net surplus
attributable to members as at January 1, 2019 of $2,500,000.
As described in the Other Matter paragraph, the opinion expressed on the financial statements of the Credit
Union as at and for the year ended December 31, 2018 was qualified opinion due to the Credit Union’s noncompliance with IFRS, where the Credit Union accounted for interest revenue on a cash basis. Had the
Credit Union recognized interest income on the accruals basis; the Accounts receivable and prepayments
as at December 31, 2018 would have increased by $5,700,000 (2017: $10,800,000) and the provision would
have increased by $3,200,000 as at December 31, 2018 (2017: $9,400,000). These adjustments will result in
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an increase in the brought forward net surplus attributable to members as at January 1, 2017 of $1,700,000,
a decrease of $276,000 at December 31, 2017 and an increase of $1,100,000 as at December 31, 2018
culminating in an increase of $2,500,000 as at December 31, 2018.
The Credit Union’s investment property is stated at cost. The total carrying value of these assets is $4.6
million (2018: $16.9 million), representing 0.2% (2018: 0.8%) of total assets. The Credit Union has not
disclosed the fair value of investment property and the reconciliation of the carrying amount of investment
property at the beginning and end of the period for the reasons that are more fully explained in Note
11. Disclosure of the fair value of investment property and the reconciliation of the carrying amount of
investment property at the beginning and end of the period is required by IFRS 40, ‘Investment Property’.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Credit Union in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and with the IESBA Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
qualified opinion.

Other Matter
The financial statements of the Credit Union as at and for the year ended December 31, 2018 were audited
by another auditor who expressed a qualified opinion on those statements on April 11, 2019 due to the Credit
Union’s non-compliance with IFRS, where the Credit Union accounted for interest revenue on a cash basis.

Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. As described in the Bases for Qualified Opinion section above,
we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence about the carrying amount of Loans to members,
Members’ deposits and Members’ shares balances and, the financial statements were non-compliant with
IFRS 9 with respect to interest revenue recognition. Accordingly, we were unable to conclude whether or not
the other information is materially misstated with respect to this matter.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Credit Union’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Credit Union or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Credit Union’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Credit Union’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Credit Union’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Credit Union to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Accountants
Port of Spain
Trinidad and Tobago
December 21, 2020
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019			

Note
		
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
6
Loans to members
7
Investments
8
Property, plant and equipment
9
Assets held for sale
10
Investment property
11
Accounts receivable and prepayments
12

2019
$

2018
$

139,839,032
704,023,198
1,254,420,385
63,563,415
29,095,642
4,680,883
17,831,876

207,816,813
703,094,046
1,083,116,189
73,728,816
16,940,091
16,468,757

Total assets		

2,213,454,431

2,101,164,712

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Capital reserve
13
Investment re-measurement reserve
14
Reserve fund
15
Education fund
16
Charity fund
17
Group life reserve
18
Retained earnings		

64,785,919
7,146,120
96,213,955
723,500
300,000
4,707,427
35,798,944

64,785,919
(4,413,074)
92,273,451
675,000
235,000
4,344,534
50,384,164

Total equity		

209,675,865

208,284,994

Liabilities			
Members’ deposits
19
233,295,029
Members’ shares
20
1,698,658,742
Due to deceased and former members		
6,869,982
Accounts payable and accruals
21
27,659,996
Bank loan
22
30,102,817
Retirement benefit liability
23
7,192,000

233,592,127
1,617,723,511
11,257,509
23,968,571
6,338,000

Total liabilities		

2,003,778,566

1,892,879,718

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES		

2,213,454,431

2,101,164,712

The attached notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

President
Honorary Treasurer		 Member of the Supervisory
			 Committee
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Note
		
Revenue
Interest income
24
Dividend income		
Interest expense		

121,880,996
4,109,232
(3,269,736)

121,017,089
3,346,264
(3,291,168)

Net income		
Other (expenses)/income
25
(Loss)/gain on foreign currency translation		

122,720,492
(1,152,995)
(652,746)

121,072,185
(1,116,891)
734,728

		

120,914,751

120,690,022

Expenses
Administrative and other
26
Salaries, wages and associated benefits
27
CUNA insurance premium		
Officers’ expenses
28
Education fund expenses		
Charity fund expenses		
Finance costs		

40,719,793
30,620,561
8,187,153
771,600
482,220
272,754
455,632

25,044,893
26,919,975
8,074,183
838,611
552,889
232,620
41,722

Total expenses		

81,509,713

61,704,893

Net surplus attributable to members for the year		
39,405,038
Other comprehensive income			
Unrealised gain/(loss) on investment securities at FVOCI
11,559,194

58,985,129
(6,608,958)

50,964,232

52,376,171

Total comprehensive income for the year		

2019
$

2018
$

The attached notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2,195,884

-

64,785,919

8,905,919

Dividends paid

Transfer from net income

Funds expenditure

Balance as at December 31, 2019

Balance as at January 1, 2018

TECU CREDIT UNION ANNUAL REPORT 2019
-

Change in group life reserve

Total comprehensive income

Dividends paid

(4,413,074)

64,785,919

$

92,273,451

-

5,898,513

-

-

-

-

-

-

86,374,938

-

86,374,938

96,213,955

-

3,940,504

-

-

-

-

-

92,273,451

The attached notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Balance as at December 31, 2018

-

-

Funds expenditure

-

-

-

-

(6,608,958)

-

-

(6,608,958)

2,195,884

-

-

-

11,559,194

-

Transfer from net income

55,880,000

-

Surplus for the year

Transfer from Retained Earnings

-

8,905,919

Other comprehensive income

Adjusted balance, January 1, 2018

-

7,146,120

-

Total comprehensive income

Adjustments for the adoption of IFRS 9

-

-

Change in group life reserve

-

-

Surplus for the year

11,559,194

-

(4,413,074)

64,785,919

Other comprehensive income

Balance as at January 1, 2019

$

$

232,620

-

-

-

-

-

-

235,000

-

235,000

300,000

(272,754)

337,754

-

-

-

-

-

235,000

$

675,000

235,000

(552,889) (232,620)

552,889

-

-

-

-

-

-

675,000

-

675,000

723,500

(482,220)

530,720

-

-

-

-

-

675,000

$

		
Investment				
Capital Re-measurement Reserve
Education Charity
Reserve
Reserve
Fund
Fund
Fund

4,344,534

-

-

-

-

477,346

477,346

-

-

3,867,188

-

3,867,188

4,707,427

-

-

-

362,893

362,893

-

-

4,344,534

$

$

Total
Members’
Equity

52,853,517

477,346

58,985,129

(6,608,958)

201,722,429

(20,486,189)

222,208,618

209,675,865

-

(254,324)

(49,681,930)

51,327,125

362,893

39,405,038

11,559,194

-

(1,445)

-

50,384,164 208,284,994

785,509

(6,685,467)

(55,880,000)

(46,289,507) (46,289,507)

58,985,129

-

58,985,129

-

99,468,500

(20,486,189)

119,954,689

35,798,944

754,974

(5,063,302)

(49,681,930)

39,405,038

-

39,405,038

-

50,384,164 208,284,994

$

Group		
Life
Retained
Reserve
Earnings

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

		
		
Cash flows from operating activities

2019
$

2018
$

Net surplus attributable to members for the year		
Adjustments for:
Depreciation		
Gain on foreign currency translation		
(Increase)/decrease in provision for losses		
Deposit to reserves		
Loss on write off/disposal of property, plant and equipment
Retirement benefit cost		

39,405,038

58,985,129

6,947,038
652,746
16,603,773
108,845
585,182
1,745,000

7,721,499
(734,728)
(19,539,337)
477,346
312,951
1,552,000

Operating surplus before changes in working capital		

66,047,622

48,774,860

Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable and prepayments
Decrease/(increase) in loans to members		
Decrease in members’ deposits		
Increase in accounts payable and accruals		
Retirement benefit contributions paid		

(1,363,119)
(17,532,924)
(297,098)
3,691,425
(891,000)

4,682,344
24,324,499
(10,828,073)
3,194,237
161,000

Net cash generated from operating activities		

49,654,906

70,308,867

Cash flows from investing activities
Net transfer/(purchase) of property, plant and equipment		
Assets held for sale		
Net (purchases)/maturities of investments		

2,633,181
(29,095,642)
(148,138,816)

(16,125,898)
24,034,060

Net cash generated (used in)/from investing activities		

(174,601,277)

7,908,162

Cash flows from financing activities
Decrease in deceased and former members’ balances		
Increase in members’ shares		
Dividends paid 		
Proceeds from bank loan		

(4,387,528)
80,935,231
(49,681,930)
30,102,817

(1,007,337)
83,243,016
(46,289,507)
-

Net cash generated (used in)/from financing activities

56,968,590

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents		

(67,977,781)

35,946,172
114,163,201

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year		

207,816,813

93,653,612

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 6)		

139,839,032

207,816,813

The attached notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

1.

Corporate Information
TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited (“the Credit Union”) was incorporated under the Cooperative Societies Act of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago on January 2, 1947. Its registered office
is situated at TECU House, Southern Main Road, Marabella. It operates for the benefit of employees,
pensioners and contractors of the Petroleum Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited, its successors,
subsidiaries and associated companies and institutions and who are closely connected with the bonafide
employees, pensioners and contractors as stated above and such persons and personnel of companies
and institutions approved by the Board of Directors.
The Credit Union operates resorts and is also an insurance agent for Guardian General Limited and
CUNA Caribbean Insurance Society Limited.
On December 10, 2020 the Board of Directors of the Credit Union authorised these financial statements
for issue.

2. Basis of Preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board except as set out below.
The Credit Union’s accounting policy for recognising loan interest revenue is the cash basis [see note
4(n)]. This treatment is in accordance with industry norms, the Co-operative Societies Act 1971, the
Credit Union bill of 2011 Sect. 60, and the Credit Unions (prudential criteria) regulations of 2012 sect.
12(1). The Credit Union also acknowledges that this treatment is contrary to the accrual basis as per IAS.
1 – Presentation of financial statements: Section 27 – Accruals Basis of Accounting. IAS 1 states that an
entity shall prepare its financial statements, except for cash flow information, using the accruals basis
of accounting.
Had the Credit Union recognised interest revenue on the accruals basis; the accounts receivables and
prepayments balance would have increased by $5.72m in 2019 (2018: $5.65m) and the ECL provision
would have increased by $3.56m in 2019 (2018: $3.2m). These adjustments would have resulted in an
increase in Interest income by $2.16m or 1.7%.
These financial statements were prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the
measurement of investment securities at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and
fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
The Credit Union’s functional and presentation currency is the Trinidad and Tobago dollar.
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to make certain
critical accounting estimates and to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Credit Union’s
accounting policies. It also requires the use of assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of income and expenditure during the reporting period. Although
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual
results may ultimately differ from those estimates.
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The Credit Union makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. However,
actual results could differ from those estimates as the resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are discussed below.
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2. Basis of Preparation (continued)
Changes in accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is changed, if the
change affects that period only, or in the period of the change and future periods if the change affects
both current and future periods.
The critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, are as follows:
(i) Provision for loan loss
(ii) Pension plan assumptions
(iii) Fair value
(iv) Depreciation method adopted for property, plant and equipment
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
statement of financial position date (requiring management’s most difficult, subjective or complex
judgements) that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows:
(i) Impairment of assets
Management assesses at each reporting date whether assets are impaired. An asset is impaired
when the carrying value is greater than its recoverable amount and there is objective evidence of
impairment. Recoverable amount is the present value of the future cash flows. Provisions are made
for the excess of the carrying value over its recoverable amount.
(ii) Plant and equipment
Management exercises judgement in determining whether future economic benefits can be derived
from expenditures to be capitalised, in estimating the useful lives, and in estimating residual values
of those assets.
3. Changes in Accounting Policy
(a) New, revised and amended standards effective January 1, 2019
i.

IFRS 16 - Leases
IFRS 16 ‘Leases’, which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1,
2019, eliminates the current dual accounting model for lessees, which distinguishes between onbalance sheet finance leases and off-balance sheet operating leases. Instead, there is a single,
on-balance sheet accounting model that is similar to current finance lease accounting. Entities
will be required to bring all major leases on-balance sheet, recognising new assets and liabilities.
The on-balance sheet liability will attract interest; the total lease expense will be higher in the
early years of a lease even if a lease has fixed regular cash rentals. Optional lessee exemption
will apply to short-term leases and for low-value items with value of US$5,000 or less.
The implementation of the standard had no significant impact on the Credit Union as lessee. The
Credit Union has opted to apply the recognition exemptions on the basis of:
1.

The lease of the office space at Point Fortin is on a month to month arrangement, which
essentially constitutes a lease term of 12 months or less, the arrangement also contains no
purchase options.

2. The lease of photocopy equipment is deemed as a low value item.
Lessor accounting remains similar to current practice as the lessor will continue to classify
leases as finance and operating leases. Finance lease accounting will be based on IAS 17 lease
accounting, with recognition of net investment in lease comprising lease receivable and residual
asset. Operating lease accounting will be based on IAS 17 operating lease accounting.
There are other new and amended standards that became effective during the year, the adoption
of which did not impact the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
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3. Changes in Accounting Policy (continued)
(b) Standards issued but not yet adopted
A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning
after 1 January 2019 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Credit Union has not early
adopted them in preparing these financial statements.
The following amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Credit Union’s
financial statements.
-

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8, Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.
Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards.
Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3).
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts.

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins on hand, unrestricted balances held with
commercial banks and highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of three months or less
from the date of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value and
are used by the Credit Union in the management of its short-term commitments.
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost in the statement of financial position.
(b) Investments
The Credit Union has classified all investments into the following categories:
The investments caption in the statement of financial position includes:
• Debt investment securities measured at amortised cost (see note 8); these are initially measured
at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently at their amortised cost
using the effective interest method;
• Debt and equity investment securities mandatorily measured at FVTPL or designated as at
FVTPL (see note 8); these are at fair value with changes recognised immediately in profit or
loss;
• Debt securities measured at FVOCI; and
• Equity investment securities designated as at FVOCI.
For debt securities measured at FVOCI, gains and losses are recognised in OCI, except for the
following, which are recognised in profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured
at amortised cost:
• Interest revenue using the effective interest method;
• Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) and reversals; and
• Foreign exchange gains and losses.
When debt security measured at FVOCI is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss.
The Credit Union elects to present in OCI changes in the fair value of certain investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading. The election is made on an instrument- by-instrument
basis on initial recognition and is irrevocable.
Gains and losses on such equity instruments are never reclassified to profit or loss and no impairment
is recognised in profit or loss. Dividends are recognised in profit or loss (see note 24) unless they
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment, in which case they are recognised
in OCI. Cumulative gains and losses recognised in OCI are transferred to retained earnings on
disposal of an investment.
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4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(c) Accounts receivables
Trade receivables are measured at cost. Appropriate Expected Credit Loss allowances for estimated
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income [see note 4(h)
(ix)].
(d) Loans to members
Loans to members are stated at principal amounts outstanding net of allowances for loan losses.
Specific provisions as detailed in note 4(h)(ix) are made for potential losses on all loans on the basis
of net realisable value. Periodic portfolio reviews are conducted during the course of each year to
determine the adequacy of provisions.
Loans are secured by various forms of collateral, including charges over tangible assets, certificates
of deposit, and assignment of funds held with other financial institutions.
(e) Trade payables
Trade payables are a present obligation arising from past events which is expected to result in an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits.
Trade payables are initially measured at cost with gains or losses recognised in the statement of
income.
(f) Members’ deposits
Members’ deposits are stated at the principal amounts invested by members together with any
capitalised interest. Members’ deposits bear interest at rates that are not significantly different
from current market rates and are assumed to have discounted cash flow values which approximate
carrying values.
(g) Members’ shares
Members’ shares are classified as liabilities and consist of an unlimited number of shares valued at
$5 each.
(h) Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that give rise to a financial asset of one enterprise and a
financial liability or equity instrument of another enterprise.
i.

Recognition and initial measurement
The Credit Union initially recognises loans to members, investments, accounts receivable and
deposits on the date on which they are originated. All other financial instruments (including
regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets) are recognised on the trade date, which
is the date on which the Credit Union becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at
FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.
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4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)
ii. Classification
Financial assets
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, FVOCI or
FVTPL.
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and
is not designated as at FVTPL:
•

The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and

•

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is
not designated as at FVTPL:
•

The asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and

•

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Credit Union may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI (see note 8). This election
is made on an investment-by-investment basis.
All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.
In addition, on initial recognition, the Credit Union may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI or as
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would
otherwise arise (see note 8).
Financial liabilities
The Credit Union classifies its financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost
iii. Business model assessment
The Credit Union makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset
is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed, and
information is provided to management. The information considered includes:
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•

The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in
practice. In particular, whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual
interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the
financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realising
cash flows through the sale of the assets;

•

How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Credit Union’s
management;

•

The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held
within that business model) and how those risks are managed;

•

The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and
its expectations about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not
considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the Credit Union’s stated
objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised.
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4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)
iii. Business model assessment (continued)
Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a
fair value basis are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash
flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.
The Credit Union has established specific criteria for financial assets that are originated or
acquired for the purpose of securitisation in a subsequent period. If, at origination or acquisition,
based on this established criterion the financial asset is expected to be securitised as part of a
portfolio that:
•

Qualifies for derecognition [see note 4. (h) (vi) below], the business objective of holding
the financial asset to collect contractual cash flows is not met. Such financial assets are
measured at FVTPL; or

•

Does not qualify for derecognition, the Credit Union has elected, as its accounting policy, to
determine the business model based on the accounting result of the securitisation. As such,
the held-to-collect business model is considered to be met.

iv. Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset
on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for
the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of
time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as
well as profit margin.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest,
the Credit Union considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing
whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount
of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment,
the Credit Union considers:

v.

•

Contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;

•

Leverage features;

•

Prepayment and extension terms;

•

Terms that limit the Credit Union’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. nonrecourse asset arrangements); and

•

Features that modify consideration of the time value of money – e.g. periodical reset of
interest rates.

Reclassifications
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the
period after the Credit Union changes its business model for managing financial assets.
There were no changes to any of the Credit Union business models during the year.
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4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)
vi. Derecognition
Financial assets
The Credit Union derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the financial asset expire or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset
are transferred or in which the Credit Union neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the
risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset
(or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i)
the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed)
and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in OCI is recognised in profit or
loss.
In transactions in which the Credit Union neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the
risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the
Credit Union continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement,
determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.
In certain transactions, the Credit Union retains the obligation to service the transferred
financial asset for a fee. The transferred asset is derecognised if it meets the derecognition
criteria. An asset or liability is recognised for the servicing contract if the servicing fee is more
than adequate (asset) or is less than adequate (liability) for performing the servicing.
Financial liabilities
The Credit Union derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged
or cancelled or expire.
vii. Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Credit Union evaluates whether the cash flows
of the modified asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different,
then the contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have
expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognised [see note 4. (h) (iv).] and a new
financial asset is recognised at fair value.
If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortised cost are not substantially different,
then the modification does not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the
Credit Union recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset and recognises the
amount arising from adjusting the gross carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in profit
or loss.
If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower, then the
gain or loss is presented together with impairment losses. In other cases, it is presented as
interest income.
If the terms of a financial asset were modified because of financial difficulties of the borrower
and the asset was not derecognised, then impairment of the asset was measured using the premodification interest rate.

68

TECU CREDIT UNION ANNUAL REPORT 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)
vii. Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Financial liabilities
The Credit Union derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash
flows of the modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability
based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms
is recognised in profit or loss.
viii. Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement
of financial position when, and only when, the Credit Union currently has a legally enforceable
right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains
and losses arising from a Credit Union of similar transactions.
ix. Impairment
See also note [5. (a) (x)].
The Credit Union recognises loss allowances for ECL on the following financial instruments that
are not measured at FVTPL:
•

Financial assets that are debt instruments (loans to members and certain investment
securities);

•

Account receivable;

•

Financial guarantee contracts issued; and

•

Loan commitments issued.

No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments.
The Credit Union measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the
following, for which they are measured as 12-month ECL:
•

Debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date;
and

•

Other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit risk has not
increased significantly since their initial recognition.

Loss allowances for lease receivables, if any, are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL.
The Credit Union considers a debt security to have low credit risk when their credit risk rating is
equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.
12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.
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4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)
ix. Impairment (continued)
Measurement of ECL
ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:
•

Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value
of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Credit Union in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Credit Union expects to receive);

•

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between
the gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.

Restructured financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is
replaced with a new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made
of whether the financial asset should be derecognised and ECL are measured as follows:
•

If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the
expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the
cash shortfalls from the existing asset (see note 8).

•

If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the
expected fair value of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing
financial asset at the time of its derecognition. This amount is included in calculating the
cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that are discounted from the expected
date of derecognition to the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the
existing financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Credit Union assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised
cost and debt financial assets carried at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘creditimpaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
•

significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

•

a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

•

the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Credit Union on terms that the Credit Union
would not consider otherwise;

•

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

•

the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition is usually
considered to be credit-impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual
cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment. In addition,
a loan that is overdue for 90 days or more is considered impaired.
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4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)
ix. Impairment (continued)
In making an assessment of whether an investment in debt securities is credit-impaired, the
Credit Union considers the following factors.
•

The market’s assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in the bond yields.

•

The rating agencies’ assessments of creditworthiness.

•

The issuer’s ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance.

•

The probability of debt being restructured, resulting in holders suffering losses through
voluntary or mandatory debt forgiveness.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:
•

Financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount
of the assets;

•

Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision;

•

Where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and the
Credit Union cannot identify the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from
those on the drawn component; the Credit Union presents a combined loss allowance
for both components. The combined amount is presented as a deduction from the gross
carrying amount of the drawn component. Any excess of the loss allowance over the gross
amount of the drawn component is presented as a provision; and

•

Debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is recognised in the statement of
financial position because the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. However,
the loss allowance is disclosed and is recognised in the fair value reserve.

Write-off
Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Credit Union determines that the
borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could
still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Credit Union’s procedures
for recovery of amounts due.
x. Designation of fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets
At initial recognition, the Credit Union has designated certain financial assets as at FVTPL
because this designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch, which
would otherwise arise.
Financial liabilities
The Credit Union has designated certain financial liabilities as at FVTPL in either of the following
circumstances:
•

the liabilities are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair value basis; or

•

the designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would
otherwise arise.
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4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)
x. Designation of fair value through profit or loss (continued)
Note 8 comprises the amount of each class of financial asset that has been designated as at
FVTPL. A description of the basis for each designation is set out in the note for the relevant
asset or liability class.
(i) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management.
Depreciation is provided on the reducing balance method, except for computer equipment and
software, which is depreciated on the straight-line basis.
The following maximum rates, are considered appropriate to write-off the assets over their estimated
useful lives, are applied:
Buildings

-

20%

Computer equipment and software

-

33 1/3%

Office furniture and equipment

-

50%

Beach house furniture

-

50%

Motor vehicles

-

20%

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted
prospectively if there is an indication of a prospective change since the last reporting date.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated future economic benefits.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within other income in the statement of income.
The Credit Union’s leasehold lands have been acquired under long-term leases ranging in terms
from 199 years to 999 years. In view of the long-term nature of these leases, no amortisation is
considered necessary.

(j) Investment properties
Investment property represents properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation
(including property under construction for such purposes). Investment property is measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is
measured in accordance with the cost model as set out in International Accounting Standard (“IAS”)
16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’, i.e. cost less accumulated depreciation and less accumulated
impairment losses, except for land which is not depreciated and is recognised at cost.
An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period
in which the property is derecognised.
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(k) Pension plan
All permanent employees of the Credit Union are members of TECU Credit Union Co-operative
Society Limited’s Pension Fund Plan (“the Plan”), which is a defined benefit plan. Provision is
made for pension benefits based on the Plan’s members’ salaries. Pension benefits are based
upon contributions made by members and the Credit Union during employment and determined by
actuarial valuations of the Plan. IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’, requires the use of actuarial techniques
on an annual basis to measure the present value of the defined benefit obligation, the related
current service cost and the actuarial gains and losses.
Under the terms of a trust deed dated October 26, 1981, the Trustees have entered into a Group
Deposit Administration contract with Colonial Life Insurance Company (Trinidad) Limited for the
purpose of administering the Plan.
(l) Due to deceased and former members
Any amounts outstanding to deceased and former members’ accounts are transferred to a special
account. The Credit Union is, however, still liable for payments of these amounts upon notification
by the beneficiaries or the former members.
(m) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Credit Union has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the statement of financial position date, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows.
(n) Revenue recognition
Loan interest
Interest on members’ loans is accounted for on a cash basis see note 2.
Investment income
Income from investments is accounted for on the accruals basis. Dividend income is recognised in
profit or loss on the date on which the Credit Union’s right to receive payment is established.
Other income and expenses
Other income and expenses are accounted for on the accruals basis.
(o) Dividends payable to members
The dividend is computed on the basis of the average value of shares in issue throughout the year.
The average being determined on the basis of the value of shares held at the end of each day.
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(p) Foreign currency
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are expressed in Trinidad and
Tobago dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date. All revenue and expenditure
transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the average rate and the resulting
profits and losses on exchange from these trading activities are recorded in the statement of
comprehensive income.
(q) Comparative figures
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation
in the current year.
(r) Assets held for sale
Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held for
sale if it is highly probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through
continuing use.
Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated to the remaining
assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial
assets, deferred tax assets, employee benefit assets, investment property or biological assets,
which continue to be measured in accordance with the Credit Union’s other accounting policies.
Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale or held-for distribution and subsequent
gains and losses on re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss.
Once classified as held for sale, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are no longer
amortised or depreciated, and any equity-accounted investee is no longer equity accounted.
5. Financial Risk Management
The Credit Union has exposure to the following risks from financial instruments:
•

Credit risk

•

Market risk

•

Liquidity risk

•

Operational risk.

•

Compliance risk

•

Reputational risk

This note presents information about the Credit Union’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring
and managing risk.
Risk management framework
The Credit Union’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight
of the Credit Union’s risk management framework. The Board of Directors has established the Legal,
Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee (“LARC”), which is responsible for developing and monitoring
risk management policies.
The Credit Union’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced
by the Credit Union, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to
limits. The risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market
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5. Financial Risk Management (continued)
conditions and the Credit Union’s activities. The Credit Union, through its training and management
standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which
all employees understand their roles and obligations.
The Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Credit Union’s risk management
policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the
risks faced by the Credit Union. The Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal
Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the
results of which are reported to the Committee.
(a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Credit Union if a member or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Credit Union’s
loans to members and other banks, and investment debt securities. The Credit Union relies heavily on
a written Loan and Investment Policy Manual, which sets out in detail the current policies governing
the lending and investment function and provides a comprehensive framework for prudent risk
management of the credit function.
Adherence to these guidelines is expected to communicate the Credit Union’s lending and
investment philosophy; provide policy guidelines to team members involve in lending; establish
minimum standards for credit analysis, documentation, decision making and post-disbursement
administration; as well as create the foundation for a sound credit portfolio.
For risk management reporting purposes, the Credit Union considers and consolidates all elements
of credit risk exposure – e.g. individual obligor default risk, regional and industry sector risk.
The market risk in respect of changes in the value of financial assets measured at FVTPL arising
from changes in market credit spreads applied to debt securities is managed as a component of
market risk.
i.

Management of credit risk
The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the oversight of credit risk to its Credit
and Finance and Investment Committees. The loans and finance departments, reporting to the
respective committees, are responsible for managing the Credit Union’s credit risk, including
the following:
•

Formulating credit policies in consultation with business units, covering collateral
requirements, credit assessment, risk grading and reporting, documentary and legal
procedures, and compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements.

•

Establishing the authorisation structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities.
Authorisation limits are allocated to Loan Officers and larger facilities require approval by
the Credit Committee or the Board of Directors, as appropriate.

•

Reviewing and assessing credit risk: Credit assesses all credit exposures in excess of
designated limits, before facilities are committed to customers by the business unit
concerned. Renewals and reviews of facilities are subject to the same review process.

•

Limiting concentrations of exposure to counterparties, geographies and industries (for
loans, financial guarantees and similar exposures), and by issuer, credit rating band and
market liquidity (for investment securities).

•

Developing and maintaining the Credit Union’s Credit Scores used to categorise exposures
according to the degree of risk of default. The responsibility for setting risk scores lies
with the final approving executive or committee, as appropriate. Risk scores are subject to
regular reviews by the Credit Union’s Board.
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5. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)
i.

Management of credit risk (continued)
•

Developing and maintaining the Credit Union’s processes for measuring the ECL: This
includes processes for:
a. initial approval, regular validation and back-testing of the models used; and
b. incorporation of forward-looking information.

•

Reviewing compliance of business units with agreed exposure limits, including those for
selected industries, regional risk and product types. Regular reports on the credit quality of
local portfolios are provided to Credit, which may require appropriate corrective action to
be taken. These include reports containing estimates of ECL allowance.

•

Providing advice, guidance and specialist skills to business units to promote best practice
throughout the Credit Union in the management of credit risk.

ii. Significant increase in credit risk
When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Credit Union considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis, based on the Credit Union’s historical experience and
expert credit assessment and including forward-looking information.
The objective of the assessment is to identify whether a significant increase in credit risk has
occurred for an exposure by comparing:
•

the remaining lifetime probability of default (“PD”) as at the reporting date; with

•

the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated at the time of initial
recognition of the exposure (adjusted where relevant for changes in prepayment
expectations).

iii. Credit risk grades
The Credit Union intends to fully develop its Credit risk scoring and grading systems in 2021. The
Credit Union would seek to allocate each exposure to a credit risk grade based on a variety of
data that is determined to be predictive of the risk of default and applying experienced credit
judgement. Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are
indicative of risk of default. These factors vary depending on the nature of the exposure and the
type of borrower. This system will add greater value and reliability to the ECL model.
Credit risk grades will be defined and calibrated such that the risk of default occurring increases
exponentially as the credit risk deteriorates so, for example, the difference in risk of default
between credit risk grades 1 and 2 is smaller than the difference between credit risk grades 2
and 3.
Each exposure will be allocated to a credit risk grade at initial recognition based on available
information about the borrower. Exposures are subject to ongoing monitoring, which may result
in an exposure being moved to a different credit risk grade.
iv. Generating the term structure of PD
Credit risk grades are a primary input into the determination of the term structure of PD for
exposures. The Credit Union collects performance and default information about its credit risk
exposures. The intent is to continue to build over the next two (2) years so as to analyse by
region and by type of product and borrower as well as by credit risk grading. For some portfolios,
information purchased from external credit reference agencies will also be used.
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5. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)
iv. Generating the term structure of PD (continued)
The Credit Union employs statistical models to analyse the data collected and generate estimates
of the remaining lifetime PD of exposures and how these are expected to change as a result of
the passage of time.
This analysis includes the identification and calibration of relationships between changes in
default rates and changes in key macro-economic factors as well as in-depth analysis of the impact
of certain other factors (e.g. forbearance experience) on the risk of default. For most exposures,
key macro-economic indicators include GDP growth, inflation rates and unemployment. To
accommodate exposures to specific industries and/or regions, the Credit Union intends extend
the analysis to relevant commodity and/or real estate prices.
Based on advice from the Credit Union’s LARC and economic experts and consideration of a
variety of external actual and forecast information, the Credit Union formulates a ‘base case’
view of the future direction of relevant economic variables as well as a representative range
of other possible forecast scenarios (see discussion below on incorporation of forward-looking
information). The Credit Union then uses these forecasts to adjust its estimates of PDs.
v. Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly
The criteria for determining whether credit risk has increased significantly vary by stages and
include quantitative changes in PDs and qualitative factors, including a backstop based on
delinquency.
The credit risk of a particular exposure is deemed to have increased significantly since initial
recognition if, based on the Credit Union’s quantitative modelling, the remaining lifetime PD is
determined to have increased by more than Thirty (30) Days.
Using its expert credit judgement and, where possible, relevant historical experience, the Credit
Union may determine that an exposure has undergone a significant increase in credit risk based
on particular qualitative indicators that it considers are indicative of such and whose effect may
not otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely basis.
As a backstop, the Credit Union considers that a significant increase in credit risk occurs no
later than when an asset is more than 30 days past due or, for [certain types of exposure], more
than 90 days past due. Days past due are determined by counting the number of days since the
earliest elapsed due date in respect of which full payment has not been received. Due dates are
determined without considering any grace period that might be available to the borrower.
The Credit Union monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify significant increases
in credit risk by regular reviews to confirm that:
•

the criteria are capable of identifying significant increases in credit risk before an exposure
is in default;

•

the criteria do not align with the point in time when an asset becomes 30 days past due; and

•

there is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from transfers between 12-month PD
(stage 1) and lifetime PD (stage 2).

vi. Modified financial assets
The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing
market conditions, member retention and other factors not related to a current or potential
credit deterioration of the member. An existing loan whose terms have been modified may be
derecognised and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan at fair value in accordance
with the accounting policy.
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5. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)
vi. Modified financial assets (continued)
When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in
derecognition, the determination of whether the asset’s credit risk has increased significantly
reflects comparison of:
•

its remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the modified terms; with

•

the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data at initial recognition and the original
contractual terms.

The Credit Union renegotiates loans to members in financial difficulties (referred to as
‘delinquency activities’) to maximise collection opportunities and minimise the risk of default.
Under the Credit Union’s Delinquency policy, loan rescheduling is granted on a selective basis if
the debtor is currently in default on its debt or if there is a high risk of default, there is evidence
that the debtor made all reasonable efforts to pay under the original contractual terms and the
debtor is expected to be able to meet the revised terms.
The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, changing the timing of interest
payments and amending the terms of loan covenants.
For financial assets modified as part of the Credit Union’s Delinquency policy, the estimate of PD
reflects whether the modification has improved or restored the Credit Union’s ability to collect
interest and principal and the Credit Union’s previous experience of similar delinquency action.
As part of this process, the Credit Union evaluates the borrower’s payment performance against
the modified contractual terms and considers various behavioural indicators.
Generally, delinquency is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and an
expectation of delinquency may constitute evidence that an exposure is credit-impaired (see
note 5. a) ix)) /in default. A member needs to demonstrate consistently good payment behaviour
over a period of time before the exposure is no longer considered to be credit-impaired/in
default or the PD is considered to have decreased such that the loss allowance reverts to being
measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
vii. Definition of default
The Credit Union considers a financial asset to be in default when:
•

the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Credit Union in full, without
recourse by the Credit Union to actions such as realising security (if any is held);

•

The borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Credit
Union. Overdrafts are considered as being past due once the customer has breached an
advised limit or been advised of a limit smaller than the current amount outstanding;

•

The Credit Union agrees to a distressed restructuring resulting in a material credit related
diminished asset stemming from such actions as material forgiveness or postponement of
payments or repayments of amount owing;

•

the Credit Union has filed for the borrower’s bankruptcy in connection with the credit
obligation; or

•

The borrower has sought or been placed in bankruptcy resulting in the delay or avoidance
of repayment of the amount owing.

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Credit Union considers indicators that are:
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•

Qualitative – e.g. breaches of covenant;

•

Quantitative – e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same
issuer to the Credit Union; and

•

Based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources.

TECU CREDIT UNION ANNUAL REPORT 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

5. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)
vii. Definition of default (continued)
Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance
may vary over time to reflect changes in circumstances.
The definition of default largely aligns with that applied by the Credit Union for regulatory
purposes.
viii. Incorporation of forward-looking information
The Credit Union incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether
the credit risk of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and its
measurement of ECL. The Credit Union formulates a ‘base case’ scenario of the future direction
of relevant economic variables as well as a representative range of other possible forecast
scenarios. This process involves developing two more additional economic scenarios and
considering the relative probabilities of each outcome. External information includes economic
data and forecasts published by the Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago (“CBTT”).
The base case scenario represents a most-likely outcome and is aligned with information used
by the Credit Union for other purposes such as strategic planning and budgeting. The other
scenarios represent more optimistic and more pessimistic outcomes.
The Credit Union uses a multiplier which is used to grade each macroeconomic variable included
in the scenarios. Each variable is graded as Positive, Stable or Negative state. Each grade is
assigned a corresponding multiplier. Weights are then assigned to component indicators in
order to reflect their economic significance on the particular scenario assessed.
The Credit Union has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for
each portfolio of financial instruments and, using an analysis of historical data, has estimated
relationships between macro-economic variables and credit risk and credit losses. The economic
scenarios used as at December 31, 2019 included ranges of CBTT key economic indicators for the
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
Predicted relationships between the key indicators and default and loss rates on various
portfolios of financial assets have been developed based on analysing historical data over the
past eight (8) years.
ix. Measurement of ECL
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following variables:
•

probability of default (“PD”);

•

loss given default (“LGD”); and

•

exposure at default (“EAD”).

These parameters are generally derived from internally developed statistical models and other
historical data. They are adjusted to reflect forward-looking information as described above.
PD represents the probability of occurrence of an event of default of the credit exposure, in a
defined time lag (i.e. 1 year). The Credit Union intends to strengthen this model by using rating
tools tailored to the various categories of loan and exposures. These statistical models will be
based on internally compiled data comprising both quantitative and qualitative factors. PDs are
estimated considering the contractual maturities of exposures and estimated prepayment rates.
LGD represents the percentage of the estimated loss, and thus the expected rate of recovery,
at the date of occurrence of the default event of the credit exposure. The LGD models consider
the structure, collateral, seniority of the claim, counterparty industry and recovery costs of any
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5. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)
ix. Measurement of ECL (continued)
collateral that is integral to the financial asset. They are calculated on a discounted cash flow
basis using the effective interest rate as the discounting factor.
EAD represents the measure of the exposure at the time of the event of default of the credit
exposure. The Credit Union derives the EAD from the current exposure to the counterparty and
potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract including amortisation.
The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount. For lending commitments, the EAD
includes the amount drawn, as well as potential future amounts that may be drawn under the
contract, which are estimated based on historical observations and future expectations.
As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD for financial assets for
which credit risk has not significantly increased, the Credit Union measures ECL considering
the risk of default over the maximum contractual period (including any borrower’s extension
options) over which it is exposed to credit risk, even if, for risk management purposes, the
Credit Union considers a longer period. The maximum contractual period extends to the date
at which the Credit Union has the right to require repayment of an advance or terminate a loan
commitment or guarantee.
Where modelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis, the financial instruments
are grouped on the basis of shared risk characteristics that include:
•

instrument type;

•

credit risk gradings;

•

collateral type;

•

date of initial recognition (vintage);

•

remaining term to maturity;

The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that exposures within a particular group
remain appropriately homogeneous.
For portfolios in respect of which the Credit Union has limited historical data, external benchmark
information is used to supplement the internally available data.
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5. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)
x. Allowance for impairment
The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of the
allowance for impairment by class of financial instrument. Explanation of the terms:
12-month ECL, lifetime ECL and credit-impaired are included in note 4 (h) (ix).
		
Stage 1
Performing
$
Provision for investment losses
Opening loss allowance as at January 1, 2019
Loss allowance recognised during the year
Loss allowance as at December 31, 2019
Balance as at January 1 2018, as per IAS 39
Amount restated through opening
retained earnings

Stage 2
UnderPerforming
$

9,378
382,310
391,688
-

-

-

-

Stage 3
NonPerforming
$

Total
$

998,479
(998,479)
-

1,007,857
(616,169)
391,688
-

-

1,048,012

Opening loss allowance as at January 1 2018,
as per IFRS 9
Loss allowance recognised during the year

9,408
(30)

-

1,038,604
(40,125)

1,048,012
(40,155)

Loss allowance as at December 31, 2018 as
per IFRS 9

9,378

-

998,479

1,007,857

Provision for loan losses
Opening loss allowance as at January 1, 2019
Loss allowance recognised during the year
Loans written off during the year

394,770
542,023
-

412,869
(339,032)
-

Balance as at December 31, 2019

936,793

73,837

44,468,077

45,478,706

-

-

-

23,192,865

-

-

-

19,438,177

Balance as at January 1, 2018 as per IAS 39
Amount restated through opening
retained earnings

Opening loss allowance as at January 1, 2018
as per IFRS 9
38,278,966
Loss allowance recognised during the year
(37,884,196)
Loans written off during the year
Balance as at December 31, 2018 as per IFRS 9

394,770

34,291,329
16,349,639
(6,172,892)

35,098,968
16,552,630
(6,172,892)

2,327,556
(1,914,687)
-

2,024,520
40,741,195
(8,474,386)

42,631,042
942,312
(8,474,386)

412,869

34,291,329

35,098,968
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5. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)
x. Allowance for impairment (continued)
		
Stage 2
Stage 1
UnderPerforming
Performing
$
$
Loans to members
Balance as at
January 1, 2019
as per IFRS 9
661,023,733
22,100,052
Net movement in classes
6,049,858
(3,483,207)
Loans written off
during the year
Net re-measurement
of loss allowance
542,023
( 339,032)
Balance as at
December 31, 2019
Balance as at
January 1, 2018
as per IAS 39
Adjustment on initial
application of IFRS 9
Balance as at
January 1, 2018
as per IFRS 9
Net movement
in classes
Loans written off
during the year
Net re-measurement
of loss allowance
Balance as at
December 31, 2018
as per IFRS 9

Stage 3
NonPerforming
$

Total
$

19,970,261
(12,017,237)

703,094,046
(9,450,586)

(6,172,892)

(6,172,892)

16,349,639

16,552,630

667,615,614

18,277,813

18,129,771

704,023,198

-

-

-

728,365,396

-

-

-

639,685,262

35,408,089

33,833,868

59,222,667
(37,884,196)

661,023,733

(11,393,350)
(1,914,687)

22,100,052

(19,438,177)

708,927,219

(46,130,416)

1,698,901

(8,474,386)

(8,474,386)

40,741,195

942,312

19,970,261

703,094,046

(b) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and
equity prices will affect the Credit Union’s income or the value of its financial instruments.
(i) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Credit Union is exposed to interest rate
risk through the effect of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of interest rates on interest bearing
financial assets and liabilities, including investments in bonds, loans, customer deposits and other
funding instruments.
The exposure is managed through the matching of funding products with financial services and
monitoring market conditions and yields.
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5. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(b) Market risk (continued)
(i) Interest rate risk (continued)
Bonds
The Credit Union invests mainly in medium to long term bonds consisting of both floating rate
and fixed rate instruments. The market values of the fixed rate bonds are not very sensitive to
changes in interest rates. The market values of the floating rate bonds are sensitive to changes
in interest rates. The longer the maturity of the bonds, the greater is the sensitivity to changes
in interest rates. As these assets are being held to maturity and are not traded, any changes in
market value will not impact the statement of comprehensive income.
The Credit Union actively monitors bonds with maturities greater than ten years, as well as the
interest rate policies of the Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago.
Loans
The Credit Union generally invests in fixed rate loans and variable rate mortgages. These are
funded mainly from member deposits and shares.
The table below summarises the Credit Union’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the
table are the Credit Union’s financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts:
The following table summarises the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
to arrive at the Credit Union’s interest rate gap base on the earlier of the contractual repricing
and maturity dates.
					
On		
2-5
Over
Demand
1 year
years
5 years
$
$
$
$
As at December
31, 2019
Assets
Cash and cash
equivalents
136,171,032
Investments
- 464,889,202 308,484,540 481,046,643
Loans to members
31,234,588 451,451,304 221,337,306
Accounts
receivable
136,171,032
Liabilities
Members’ deposits
Accounts payable
and accruals
Bank loan
Due to deceased
and former
members
6,869,982
Members’
shares
1,698,658,742
Interest
sensitivity
gap

496,123,790

759,935,844 702,383,949

NonRate
Sensitive
$

Carrying
Amount
$

3,668,000
139,839,032
- 1,254,420,385
704,023,198
17,831,876

17,831,876

21,499,876

2,116,114,491

60,503,460

164,947,702

-

7,843,867

233,295,029

6,102,817

24,000,000

- 27,659,996
-		

27,659,996
30,102,817

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

- 1,698,658,742

1,705,528,724

66,606,277

188,947,702

-

35,503,863 1,996,586,566

(1,569,357,692)

429,517,513

570,988,142 702,383,949` (14,003,987)

6,869,982

119,527,925
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5. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(b) Market risk (continued)
(i) Interest rate risk (continued)
					
On		
2-5
Over
Demand
1 year
years
5 years
$
$
$
$
As at December
31, 2018
Assets
Cash and cash
equivalents
204,464,911
Investments
345,399,795 245,148,268 492,568,126
Loans to members
21,584,276
94,258,101 587,251,669
Accounts
receivable
204,464,911
Liabilities
Members’ deposits
Accounts payable
and accruals
Due to deceased
and former
members
11,257,509
Members’
shares
1,617,723,511
Interest
sensitivity
gap

366,984,071

339,406,369 1,079,819,795

NonRate
Sensitive
$

Carrying
Amount
$

3,351,902
-

207,816,813
1,083,116,189
703,094,046

16,468,757

16,468,757

19,820,659 2,010,495,805

53,288,544

173,957,965

-

6,345,618

233,592,127

-

-

-

23,968,571

23,968,571

-

-

-

-

11,257,509

-

-

-

-

1,617,723,511

1,628,981,020

53,288,544

173,957,965

-

30,314,189

1,886,541,718

(1,424,516,109)

313,695,527

165,448,404 1,079,819,795 (10,493,530)

123,954,087

(ii) Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate
due to changes in foreign exchange rates. Currency risk arises when future commercial transactions
and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the Credit Union’s
measurement currency. The Credit Union is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures primarily with respect to the United States Dollar. The Credit Union’s
management monitors the exchange rate fluctuations on a continuous basis and acts accordingly.
The carrying amounts of the Credit Union’s United States dollar denominated monetary assets at
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
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2019
$

2018
$

34,709,695
298,162,537

28,010,937
308,128,470

332,872,232

336,139,407
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5. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(b) Market risk (continued)
(ii) Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis is based on the Credit Union’s foreign currency financial instruments held
at each reporting date. Assuming a +/- 5% change of the USD exchange rate for the year ended
December 31, 2019 (2018: 5%) assets for the year would increase or decrease by $16.6m (2018:
$16.8m).
(iii) Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of
changes in market prices, other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk.
Sensitivity analysis for quoted equities is based on the Credit Union’s quoted equities held
at each reporting date. Assuming a +/- 5% change of the market prices for the year ended
December 31, 2019 (2018: 5%) assets for the year would increase by $0.58m (2018: $0.33m).
(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that arises when the maturity dates of assets and liabilities do not match.
An unmatched position potentially enhances profitability but can also increase the risk of losses.
The Credit Union has procedures with the object of minimising such losses such as maintaining
sufficient cash and other highly liquid current assets and by having available an adequate amount
of committed credit facilities.
The Credit Union is able to make daily calls on its available cash resources to settle financial and
other liabilities.
Following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:
Due on
Demand
$
As at December 31, 2019
Liabilities
Members’ deposits
Accounts payable and
accruals
Bank loan
Due to deceased and
former members
6,869,982
Members’ shares
1,698,658,742
1,698,658,742
Total liabilities

1,705,528,724

As at December 31, 2018
Liabilities
Members’ deposits
Accounts payable
and accruals
Due to deceased
and former members
11,257,509
Members’ shares
1,617,723,511
Total liabilities

1,628,981,020

Due in
1 year
$

Due 2-5
years
$

Due over
5 years
$

68,347,326

164,947,703

-

233,295,029

27,659,996
6,102,817

24,000,000

-

27,659,996
30,102,817

-

-

-

6,869,982

102,110,139

188,947,703

-

1,996,586,566

59,634,162

173,957,965

-

233,592,127

23,968,571

-

-

23,968,571

-

-

-

11,257,509
1,617,723,511

83,602,733

173,957,965

-

1,886,541,718

Total
$
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5. Financial Risk Management (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued)
Risk management
The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities
are fundamental to the management of the Credit Union. The Credit Union employs various asset/
liability techniques to manage liquidity gaps. Liquidity gaps are mitigated by the marketable nature
of a substantial segment of the Credit Union’s assets as well as generating sufficient cash from new
and renewed members’ deposits and shares.
To manage and reduce liquidity risk the Credit Union’s management actively seeks to match cash
inflows with liability requirements.
(e) Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk derived from deficiencies relating to the Credit Union’s information
technology and control systems, as well as the risk of human error and natural disasters. The Credit
Union’s systems are evaluated, maintained and upgraded continuously. Supervisory controls are
installed to minimise human error. Additionally, staff is often rotated and trained on an on-going
basis.
(f) Compliance risk
Compliance risk is the risk of financial loss, including fines and other penalties, which arise from
non-compliance with laws and regulations of the state. The risk is limited to a significant extent due
to the supervision applied by the Commissioner for Co-operative Development, as well as by the
monitoring controls applied by the Credit Union. The Credit Union has a Compliance Officer as well
as an Internal Audit Department which does routine reviews on compliance.
(g) Reputation risk
The risk of loss of reputation arising from the negative publicity relating to the Credit Union’s
operations (whether true or false) may result in a reduction of its clientele, reduction in revenue
and legal cases against the Credit Union. The Credit Union engages in public social endeavours to
engender trust and minimise this risk.
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6. Cash and Cash Equivalents
2019
$
3,667,999
75,572,965
60,598,068

2018
$
3,351,902
59,831,797
144,633,114

139,839,032

207,816,813

2019
$
395,374,418
11,016,144
89,600,815
159,700
208,561,134
49,626,378

2018
$
388,430,677
10,936,612
101,267,278
339,200
208,432,178
31,997,937

754,338,589
(4,836,685)

741,403,882
(3,210,868)

749,501,904
(45,478,706)

738,193,014
(35,098,968)

704,023,198

703,094,046

Provision for loan losses		
Balance as at January 1
35,098,968
Adjustments for the adoption of IFRS 9
-

23,192,865
19,438,177

Adjusted balance, January 1
Provision for loan losses charged to surplus
Loans written off

35,098,968
16,552,630
(6,172,892)

42,631,042
942,312
(8,474,386)

Balance as at December 31

45,478,706

35,098,968

2019
$

2018
$

31,203,254
1,099,472,814
124,136,005
(391,688)

26,615,553
945,172,149
112,336,344
-

Cash on hand
Current accounts held at bank
Mutual funds

7.

Loans to Members at Amortised Cost

Character loans
Co-maker loans
Mortgage bill of sale loans
Computer loans
Mortgages
Investment loans
Less: Loans due from deceased members
Less: Provision for loan losses (see note below)

8. Investments

Investment securities measured at FVTPL
Investment securities at amortised cost
Investment securities at FVOCI
Provision for Credit Loss

1,254,420,385

1,084,124,046
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8. Investments (continued)
2019
$
Investment securities at FVOCI
Quoted
Ansa McAl Limited - 109,918 shares
CLICO Investments Fund 320,000 units
First Citizens Bank Limited – 608,351 shares
First Citizens Bank Limited
(El Tucuche Fund) – 802,657 units
Grace Kennedy Limited - 143,433 shares
Guardian Holdings Limited - 76,959 shares
Jamaican Money Market Brokers Limited
- 202,906 shares
National Commercial Bank of Jamaica Limited
- 100,000 shares
National Enterprises Limited - 276,100 shares
Neal and Massy Holdings Limited - 38,678 shares
Phoenix Park Gas Processors Ltd - 368,381 shares
Plipdeco Limited – 77,700 shares
Praetorian Property Mutual Fund - 400,000 units
Republic Bank Limited – 50,000 shares
Royal Bank of Canada – 6,388 shares
Sagicor Financial Corporation - 175,900 shares
Savinvest India Asia Mutual Fund - 113,036 units
Scotiabank Bond Fund - 372,939 units
Scotiabank Trinidad and Tobago Limited - 50,000 shares
Unilever Caribbean Limited - 32,667 shares
UTC Calypso Macro Index fund 1,000,952 shares

6,067,474
9,120,000
27,071,620

6,045,490
6,409,600
20,665,683

10,115,894
566,560
1,666,162

9,768,756
415,956
1,392,958

521,468

355,086

1,086,000
1,590,336
2,359,358
8,826,409
279,720
420,000
6,561,000
3,421,273
1,917,310
8,281,692
7,085,393
3,050,000
751,341
15,764,994

853,000
2,208,800
1,817,866
10,719,887
287,490
420,000
5,363,000
2,967,842
1,583,100
7,847,370
6,624,665
3,212,500
751,014
15,014,280

116,524,004

104,724,343

50,000
5,000,000
2,562,001

50,000
5,000,000
2,562,001

7,612,001

7,612,001

124,136,005

112,336,344

Investment securities measured at FVTPL
RBC Portfolio Management
FCIS Portfolio Management

13,959,667
17,243,587

11,561,509
15,054,044

Total held at FVTPL

31,203,254

26,615,553

Unquoted
Central Finance Facility Co-operative Society of T&T Ltd
- 2 shares
KCL CMBL - 1,000,000 Preference shares
LINCU Limited - 2,250,001 shares

Total held at FVOCI
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8. Investments (continued)
2019
$

2018
$

36,202,706
219,681,392

65,240,202
93,431,477

Total short-term

255,884,098

158,671,679

Long-term
Government of Trinidad and Tobago
Banking and finance
Manufacturing
Sovereign
Petrotrin
State agencies

311,852,103
164,800,500
80,377,855
3,938,152
282,620,107

291,768,469
129,210,448
82,304,741
6,956,694
47,198,138
229,061,980

Total long-term

843,588,717

786,500,470

Total investment securities at amortised cost

1,099,472,815

945,172,149

Total investments
Less: provision for expected credit losses
[(see note 5. a) x.)]

1,254,812,073

1,084,124,046

Investment securities at amortised cost
Short-term
Fixed deposits
Repurchase agreements

(391,688)
1,254,420,385

(1,007,857)
1,083,116,189
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28,196,108
5,003,792
(190,459)
9,811
33,019,252
5,642,772
9,845,681

13,990,833
427,925
(983,764)
354,705
13,789,699
24,744,226
25,731,293

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at 1 January 2019
Charge for the year
Disposals
Adjustments

Balance as at 31 December 2019

Net book value
Balance as at 31 December 2019

Balance as at 31 December 2018

38,662,024

38,533,925

Balance as at December 31, 2019

			
Land &
Computer
Building
Equipment
$
$
Cost
Balance as at January 1, 2019
39,722,126
38,041,789
Additions
65,593
602,251
Disposals
(1,253,794)
(190,462)
Reclassifications to assets held for sale
Adjustments
208,446

9. Property, Plant and Equipment

TECU CREDIT UNION ANNUAL REPORT 2019
7,261,506

6,915,887

11,657,554

11,080,308
811,346
(56,616)
(177,484)

6,225,216

5,679,756

3,220,926

2,901,977
668,671
(379,384)
29,662

8,900,682

9,127,193
270,870
(511,007)
13,626

18,341,814
288,251
(56,624)
18,573,441

Beach
House
Furniture
$

Office
Furniture &
Equipment
$

176,526

141,221

323,891

288,586
35,305
-

465,112

465,112
-

Capital
Motor
Vehicles
$

24,488,594

20,439,553

-

-

20,439,553

24,488,594
13,917,118
(17,777,263)
(188,896)

Work-inProgress
$

73,728,816

63,563,415

62,011,322

56,457,812
6,947,039
(1,610,223)
216,694

125,574,737

130,186,628
15,144,083
(2,011,887)
(17,777,263)
33,176

Total
$
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22,698,956
5,378,895
118,257
28,196,108
9,845,681
15,046,641

39,722,126
13,317,405
673,428
13,990,833
25,731,293
21,658,105

Balance as at 31 December 2018

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at 1 January 2017
Charge for the year
Adjustments

Balance as at 31 December 2018

Net book value
Balance as at 31 December 2018

Balance as at 31 December 2017

38,041,789

			
Land &
Computer
Building
Equipment
$
$
Cost
Balance as at 1 January 2018
34,975,510
37,745,597
Additions
4,746,616
328,555
Adjustments
(32,363)

9. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

7,982,075

7,261,506

11,080,308

10,310,647
868,920
(99,259)

7,125,067

6,225,216

2,901,977

2,347,413
756,125
(201,561)

9,127,193

9,472,480
26,998
(372,285)

18,292,722
139,958
(90,866)
18,341,814

Beach
House
Furniture
$

Office
Furniture &
Equipment
$

220,657

176,526

288,586

244,455
44,131
-

465,112

465,112
-

Capital
Motor
Vehicles
$

13,604,823

24,488,594

-

-

24,488,594

13,604,823
10,883,771
-

Work-inProgress
$

65,637,368

73,728,816

56,457,812

48,918,876
7,721,499
(182,563)

130,186,628

114,556,244
16,125,898
(495,514)

Total
$
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10. Assets Held For Sale
In 2019, the infrastructural works was completed for the land development at Chaguanas. This allowed
management to commence the sale of lots. As at the reporting date, the development was stated at
historical cost of $29.09M.
In 2006, TECU purchased a parcel of land at Endeavour Chaguanas. The purchase was borne out of
requests made by the membership for the Credit Union to provide residential lots or housing units to
members of the Credit Union. 2010 saw the commencement of infrastructural works on the parcel of land
in order to facilitate the subdivision to residential lots.
11. Investment Property
2019
$
Land		
La Brea/Plaisance Park/Piparo
430,870
Tabaquite
93,783
La Sophie
69,429
Chaguanas
Blanchisseuse
28,847
Tobago – Mc Kay Hill
311,609
Tobago – Milford Road
992,213
The Orchard at Moka
2,754,132

2018
$
430,870
93,783
69,429
12,259,208
28,847
311,609
992,213
2,754,132

4,680,883

16,940,091

The Credit Union has adopted the Cost Model for accounting for its investment property [Note 4. (j)].
Management has no definitive plan for the rationalisation or monetisation of investment property in the
foreseeable future, and as such an independent valuation was not performed to determine the market
value of investment property as at December 31, 2019.
12. Accounts Receivable and Prepayments
2019
$

2018
$

Interest receivable on investments
Accounts receivable
Deferred charges and prepayments
Other receivables

13,009,398
5,977,475
731,792
557,353

12,167,433
6,202,089
276,777
536,076

Provision for impairment (see note below)

20,276,018
(2,444,142)

19,182,375
(2,713,618)

17,831,876
Provision for impairment:		
Balance as at January 1
2,713,618
Decrease/increase in provision during the year
(269,476)
Balance as at December 31
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16,468,757
2,668,925
44,693
2,713,618

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

13. Capital Reserve
This reserve includes appropriations transferred from retained earnings, as considered necessary by
the Board of Directors.
14. Investment Re-Measurement Reserve
In accordance with By-law 20 (viii), the Board of Directors has created an investment re-measurement
reserve which consists of unrealised gains/(losses) on investment securities at FVOCI.
15. Reserve Fund
In accordance with the Co-operative Societies Act, 1971, Section 47 (2) and By-law 50 (1) of the Credit
Union, at least 10% of the net surplus for the year of the Credit Union is to be appropriated to the
Reserve Fund.
16. Education Fund
In accordance with By-law 51 of the Credit Union, an amount not exceeding 5% of the net surplus for the
year, after making appropriations to the Reserve Fund is transferred to an Education Fund. This fund is
to be used for educational purposes, in accordance with By-law 46.
17. Charity Fund
In accordance with the Co-operative Societies Act, 1971 Section 50 and By-law, an amount not exceeding
5% of the net surplus for the year, after making appropriations to the Reserve Fund, is transferred to
the Charity Fund.
18. Group Life Reserve
The balance represents the accumulation of rebates received from Colonial Life Insurance Company
(Trinidad) Limited from the policyholder’s reserve account. Rebates are issued based on claim experience
and administration of the members’ group life insurance plan.
19. Members’ Deposits

Retirees’ deposits
One-year term deposits
Three-year term deposits
Five-year term deposits
Ten-year term deposits
Unclaimed deposits

2019
$
87,721,811
60,503,460
47,761,551
19,181,840
10,282,500
7,843,867

2018
$
182,220,442
32,273,907
9,946,160
2,206,000
600,000
6,345,618

233,295,029

233,592,127

20. Members’ Shares
In accordance with existing IFRSs and given the substance and the nature of members’ shares, this
balance is accounted for as a liability and not as equity of the Credit Union. The Credit Union By-Laws
allow for the issue of an unlimited number of shares at $5.00 each. The Board may require a member
to give written notice of their intention to withdraw the whole or any part of their shares or deposits;
provided that not more than ninety (90) days of such notice is required in the case of shares.
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21. Accounts Payable and Accruals

Trade payable and accruals
Provisional deposits

2019
$

2018
$

20,632,935
7,027,061

18,618,360
5,350,211

27,659,996

23,968,571

22. Bank Loan
The Credit Union has obtained a secured bank loan of $30 million with a carrying amount of $31.1 million
at 31 December 2019 (2018: $0). The loan is repayable in quarterly tranches within five years at a variable
interest rate of 4.22%. The loan is secured via collateral charge over the Credit Union’s Government of
Trinidad and Tobago fixed rate bonds due 2024 and 2025 with a face value of $47.5 million. The loan was
acquired to assist with funding the loan Book. See accounting policies in Notes 4 h (i)-(vi).
2019
$
Secured Bank loan
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30,102,817

2018
$
-
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23. Retirement Benefit Liability

(a) Change in defined benefit obligations
Defined benefit obligations at start of year
Prior year adjustment
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial (gain) loss on obligation
Benefits paid
Defined benefit obligation at end

2019
$

2018
$

24,920,000
2,147,000
1,337,000
(464,000)
(339,000)

26,316,000
(3,734,000)
2,035,000
1,179,000
620,000
(1,496,000)

27,601,000

24,920,000

		
(b) Change in plan assets		
Plan assets at start of year
18,582,000
Prior year adjustment
Expected return on plan assets
978,000
Actuarial loss
(608,000)
Contributions
1,796,000
Benefits paid
(339,000)
Plan assets at end of year

20,409,000

(c) Items included in statement of financial position		
Defined benefit obligation (a)
(27,601,000)
Fair value of assets (b)
20,409,000
Net IAS 19 defined benefit liability

(7,192,000)

		
(d) Items included in statement of comprehensive income		
Current service cost
1,386,000
Interest cost
63,000
Interest on Plan assets
296,000
Net actuarial loss recognised in the year
Net pension cost

1,745,000

21,691,000
(3,734,000)
913,000
(560,000)
1,768,000
(1,496,000)
18,582,000
(24,920,000)
18,582,000
(6,338,000)

1,286,000
62,000
204,000
1,552,000

(e) Reconciliation of opening and closing
statement of financial position balances 		
Opening defined benefit liability
Expense in statement of comprehensive income
Contributions paid
Liability recognised in
the statement of financial position

(6,338,000)
(1,745,000)
891,000

(4,625,000)
(1,552,000)
(161,000)

(7,192,000)

(6,338,000)
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23. Retirement Benefit Liability (continued)
2019
$

2018
$

(f) Actual return on plan assets
Interest on plan assets
Actuarial loss on plan assets

1,041,000
(608,000)

975,000
(560,000)

Actual return on plan assets

433,000

415,000

(g) Summary of principal assumptions
Discount rate – prior to retirement
Discount rate – post retirement
Expense – prior to retirement (of contributions)
Expense – post retirement (of annuity)
Expected rate of salary increases
Expected return on plan assets

5.4
4.5
3.5
3.5
3.5
N/A

5.4
4.5
3.5
3.5
3.5
N/A

(h) Sensitivity analysis
Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions,
holding other assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation. Benefit
obligations as at December 31, 2019 due to 1% change in the discount rate and future salary increases
are shown below:
2019
1% p.a.
increase
Discount rate
Future salary increases

(6,297,000)
4,144,000

1% p.a.
decrease
8,574,000
(3,487,000)

1% p.a.
increase

2018		
1% p.a.
decrease

(5,889,000)
3,657,000

8,054,000
3,086,000

24. Interest Income

Loans
Investment securities at amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents
Other interest income

2019
$
69,616,393
40,900,011
6,776,891
4,587,701

2018
$
78,876,724
39,210,524
3,952,279
(1,022,438)

121,880,996

121,017,089

25. Other (Expenses)/Income

Insurance agency (net)
Beach houses (net) (note 25. a) below)
Coral Reef Guest House (net) (note 25. b) below)
Couva office (net)
Miscellaneous

96

TECU CREDIT UNION ANNUAL REPORT 2019

2019
$
(36,441)
(182,141)
(569,574)
(492,319)
127,480

2018
$
509,317
(350,188)
(897,787)
(396,222)
17,989

(1,152,995)

(1,116,891)
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25. Other (Expenses)/Income (continued)
(a) Beach House (net)
		
2019			
2018
Rental		
Surplus/
Rental		
Income
Expenses
(Deficit)
Income
Expenses
$
$
$
$
$
Mayaro						
House #1
35,644
126,851
(91,207)
52,691
127,911
House #2
21,459
(21,459)
63,676
House #3
18,241
(18,241)
41,007
House# 4
26,190
(26,190)
168,410
Balandra Condo
20,889
45,933
(25,044)
29,778
31,653
Total

56,553

238,674

(182,141)

82,469

432,657

Surplus/
(Deficit)
$
(75,220)
(63,676)
(41,007)
(168,410)
(1,875)
(350,188)

(b) Coral Reef Guest House (net)
2019
$
1,499,998

Income
Expenses
Advertising and promotion
Bank charges
Cleaning supplies and toiletries
Contribution to national insurance
Cutlery and crockery
Depreciation
Electricity
General maintenance
Insurance – fixed assets
Insurance – other
Legal and professional fees
Material and supplies other
Miscellaneous
Repair equipment
Repairs property
Salaries
Security
Staff travelling
Stationery
Subsistence
Telephone and faxes
Wages
Water rates
Total expenses
Deficit

(4,000)
15,856
39,394
38,227
1,443
784,521
78,838
105,953
124,473
3,035
13,620
50,228
39,811
8,268
251,515
210,912
2,776
7,107
102,276
10,081
173,396
11,842
2,069,572
(569,574)

2018
$
1,204,589
6,100
12,050
38,857
37,676
1,271
849,613
74,138
113,203
115,767
1,171
13,620
35,565
32,904
1,850
5,830
261,690
230,568
6,923
4,257
65,640
15,539
167,032
11,112
2,102,376
(897,787)
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26. Administration and Other Expenses

Advertising and promotions
Annual general meeting
Audit fees
Branch operations Couva
Branch operation Marabella
Branch operation Point Fortin
Data processing
Depreciation
General maintenance
Insurance
Internet charges
Janitorial services
Legal and professional fees
Loss provision expense
Miscellaneous
Office maintenance
Office building expense
Printing, postage and stationery
Security
Seminars and conventions
Staff training
Statutory levies
Subscriptions
Telephone and electricity

2019
$
1,781,464
467,497
593,191
969,739
2,043,063
913,775
8,960,596
232,703
631,061
160,165
48,033
128,373
1,202,322
16,603,773
785,351
73,097
2,000,462
586,690
68,281
279,275
903,032
1,072,377
58,196
157,277

2018
$
2,601,415
477,593
559,878
845,830
2,033,388
838,517
10,019,259
451,557
491,587
250,970
44,605
253,344
499,615
946,851
501,443
222,070
1,707,115
630,196
139,567
249,288
732,924
373,090
51,646
123,145

40,719,793

25,044,893

27. Salaries, Wages and Associated Benefits
2019
$
Contract services
E.A.P. charges
Salaries, pension and national insurance contributions
Staff related insurance
Staff travel
Uniform allowance
Wages
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71,297
28,512,164
312,737
682,121
502,872
539,370

2018
$
6,300
79,043
25,100,035
301,153
589,198
471,416
372,830

30,620,561

26,919,975

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

28. Officers’ Expenses

Group life
Meetings
Functions
Local travel
Allowances

2019
$
80,494
281,321
52,000
112,465
245,320

2018
$
80,694
316,386
144,699
78,140
218,692

771,600

838,611

29. Employees
The number of persons employed at the Credit Union at December 31, 2019 totalled 187 (2018: 199).
30. Fair Values
Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments (where
active market quotes are not available) and non-financial assets. This involves developing estimates
and assumptions consistent with how market participants would price the instrument. Management
bases its assumptions on observable data as far as possible, but this is not always available. In that case
management uses the best information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices
that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date.
The following methods have been used to estimate the fair values of various classes of financial assets
and liabilities:
(a) Current assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of current assets and liabilities are a reasonable approximation of the fair
values because of their short-term nature.
(b) Members’ loans
Loans are net of specific provisions for losses. These assets result from transactions conducted
under typical market conditions and their values are not adversely affected by unusual terms. The
inherent rates of interest in the portfolio approximate market conditions and yield discounted cash
flow values which are substantially in accordance with financial statement amounts.
(c) Investments
Fair value hierarchy
IFRS 13 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation
techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from
independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Credit Union’s market assumptions. These
two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:
•

Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level
includes listed equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges.

•

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). This
level includes the majority of debt securities.

•

Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs). This level includes debt instruments with significant unobservable
components.

This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Credit Union considers
relevant and observable market prices in its valuations where possible.
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30. Fair Values (continued)
(c) Investments (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)
The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments measured at fair value by level of the
fair value hierarchy:
Level 1
$
As at December 31, 2019
Investment securities
measured at FVTPL
Investment securities
measured at FVOCI
– quoted
- unquoted
As at December 31, 2018
Investment securities
measured at FVTPL
Investment securities
measured at FVOCI
– quoted
- unquoted

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

31,203,254

-

-

31,203,254

116,524,004
-

-

7,612,001

116,524,004
7,612,001

147,727,258

-

7,612,001

155,339,259

26,615,553

-

-

26,615,553

104,724,343
-

-

7,612,001

104,724,343
7,612,001

131,339,896

-

7,612,001

138,951,897

Financial instruments not measured at fair value
The table below shows the financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value and analyses
them by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised. It
does not include fair value information for financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value
if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.
		
		
Level
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investment securities at
amortised cost
Loans to members
Accounts receivable and
prepayments
Financial liabilities
Members’ deposits
Members’ shares
Due to deceased and
Former members
Accounts payables and
accruals
Bank loan
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2
-

Carrying
Value
2019
$

Fair
Value
2019
$

Carrying
Value
2018
$

Fair
Value
2018
$

139,839,032

139,839,032

207,816,813

207,816,813

1,099,472,814 1,099,472,814
945,172,149 945,172,149
704,023,198 704,023,198 703,094,046 703,094,046
17,831,876

17,831,876

16,468,757

16,468,757

233,295,029 233,295,029
1,698,658,742 1,698,658,742

233,592,127
1,617,723,511

233,592,127
1,617,723,511

-

6,869,982

6,869,982

11,257,509

11,257,509

-

27,659,996
30,102,817

27,659,996
30,102,817

23,968,571
-

23,968,571
-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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30. Fair Values (continued)
(d) Members’ deposits
Members’ deposits bear interest at rates that are not significantly different from current rates and
are assumed to have discounted cash flow values which approximate carrying values.
31. Capital Risk Management
The Credit Union manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to members and providing value to its members by offering loan and savings
facilities. The Credit Union’s overall strategy remains unchanged from previous years.
The capital structure of the Credit Union consists of equity attributable to members, and comprises
members’ shares, reserves and retained earnings.
32. Dividends
The Board of Directors declared a dividend of 3% of the average value of members’ shares in issue
throughout the year for the year ended December 31, 2018. This dividend which totalled $49.6million
was paid in May 2019 (2018: $46.3m paid in May 2018).
33. Contingent Liabilities
As at December 31, 2019, there were certain legal proceedings outstanding against the Credit Union. No
provision has been made as professional advice indicates that it is unlikely that any significant losses
will arise.
34. Related Party Transactions and Balances
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial decisions.
Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Credit Union.
A number of transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These
transactions were carried out on commercial terms at market rates.
Balances and transactions with related parties and key management personnel during the year were as
follows:
2019
2018
$
$
Assets		
Loans to directors, key management
personnel and their close family members
23,876,301
21,417,533
Deposits and other liabilities		
Deposits held by directors, key management
personnel and their close family members
7,276,894
Shares held by directors, key management
personnel and their close family members

5,461,605

35,632,064

32,722,299

Key management compensation		
Short-term benefits
10,902,012
Post-employment benefits
587,578

10,044,217
553,032

11,489,590

10,597,249
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35. Capital Commitment
The Credit Union has a contractual commitment for land development of $3.8m (2018: $7.1m) payable in
2020. There were no other material contractual commitments to acquire property, plant and equipment
as at December 31, 2019.
36. Subsequent Event
Covid-19 Pandemic
The substantial economic uncertainty caused by the COVID-19 pandemic has widespread implications for
most entities, including several very challenging operational and financial reporting considerations. As
an organisation one of the more important matters is having the information necessary to understand
the specific risks and uncertainties, liquidity, and the ability to continue as a going concern.
Adequately identifying and responding to these risks, as well as other related impacts, is foundational
to TECU’s ability to assess its business continuity. Given the complexities of COVID-19, management
remains especially vigilant to ensure this area remains a high priority.
COVID-19 has many implications for the Credit Union, which may result in the manifestation of a variety
of risks already described in prior notes or may heighten certain risks that are already disclosed.
Management has evaluated that COVID-19 presents heightened risks that may warrant further attention,
such risks relates to:
- Adverse Economic Conditions
- Loan and Credit losses
- Capital and Liquidity
- Cybersecurity
The Credit Union has granted loan payment moratoriums, debt consolidation and relief loans to members
during 2020 to assist with some of the challenges faced by the pandemic.
It is anticipated that cybercriminals will also use the pandemic as an opportunity to exploit vulnerabilities,
to mitigate this, the Credit Union has enhanced its cybersecurity, backup and recovery sites.
Other events
No adjusting or significant non-adjusting events have occurred between the December 31 reporting date
and the date of authorisation.
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RESOLUTIONS
1.

Dividends
Whereas TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Ltd (TECU) has realised a net surplus for the
financial year ended December 31, 2019; and whereas Bye-Law 46 of TECU makes provision for the
distribution of this surplus in accordance with the regulations of the Co-operative Societies Act;
Be it resolved that a dividend of 2.5% be declared on members’ shares for the financial period
January 01, 2019 to December 31, 2019.

2. Appointment of Auditors
Whereas Bye-Law 54 (i) of TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Ltd (TECU) requires the Annual
General Meeting to appoint an Auditor for the ensuing term;
Be it resolved that the firm PKF be appointed Auditors of TECU for the financial period January 01,
2020 to December 31, 2020.

3. Bad Debts
Whereas Bye-Law 15 (viii) of TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Ltd makes provision for approval
of Bad Debts at the Annual General Meeting;
Be it resolved that the sum of Five Million, One Hundred and Sixty-One Thousand, Eight Hundred and
Twenty-Seven Dollars and Ten Cents ($5,161,827.10) be written off by the Society.

WE ARE ADDING POINTS OF CONTACT TO BETTER SERVE YOU

103

GET IN TOUCH
HEAD OFFICE MARABELLA
TECU HOUSE, Southern Main Road,
Marabella, Trinidad W.I.
Tel: 868-800-TECU (8328)
Fax: 868-658-2611
Email:administration@tecutt.com
Website: www.tecutt.com
Department
Member Information
Loans
Fixed Deposits
LinCU
Insurance

Extension
2285
2330
2289, 2290
2288
2236

POINT FORTIN
28 Guapo Cap-de-Ville Road,
Point Fortin, Trinidad W.I.
Tel: 868-648-3597
Fax: 868-648-4873
Department

Extension

Member Information
Loans

2504
2502

COUVA
Southern Main Road, Couva,
Trinidad W.I.
Tel: 868-679-6549
Fax: 868-679-2903
Department

Extension

Member Information
Loans
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